Calculus of Variations



Existence of energy-variational solutions to hyperbolic conservation laws

Thomas Eiter^{1,2} • Robert Lasarzik^{1,3}

Received: 15 December 2022 / Accepted: 14 March 2024 / Published online: 13 April 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

We introduce the concept of energy-variational solutions for hyperbolic conservation laws. Intrinsically, these energy-variational solutions fulfill the weak-strong uniqueness principle and the semi-flow property, and the set of solutions is convex and weakly-star closed. The existence of energy-variational solutions is proven via a suitable time-discretization scheme under certain assumptions. This general result yields existence of energy-variational solutions to the magnetohydrodynamical equations for ideal incompressible fluids and to the Euler equations in both the incompressible and the compressible case. Moreover, we show that energy-variational solutions to the Euler equations coincide with dissipative weak solutions.

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{Mathematics Subject Classification} & 35L45 \cdot 35L65 \cdot 35A01 \cdot 35A15 \cdot 35D99 \cdot 35Q31 \cdot 76B03 \cdot 76N10 \\ \end{tabular}$

Contents

1	Introduction
2	Preliminaries and main result
	2.1 Notation
	2.2 Main result
	2.3 Auxiliary results
3	Properties and existence of energy-variational solutions
	3.1 General properties
	3.2 Relative entropy and weak-strong uniqueness
	3.3 Existence of energy-variational solutions

Communicated by Laszlo Szekelyhidi.

- Weierstrass Institute for Applied Analysis and Stochastics, Mohrenstr. 39, 12099 Berlin, Germany
- University of Kassel, Institute of Mathematics, Heinrich-Plett-Str. 40, 34132 Kassel, Germany
- Freie Universität Berlin, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Arnimallee 9, 14195 Berlin, Germany



103 Page 2 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

4	Two incompressible fluid models	23
	4.1 Incompressible magnetohydrodynamics	23
	4.2 Incompressible Euler equations	25
5	Compressible Euler equations	28
	5.1 Energy-variational solutions to the compressible Euler equations	29
	5.2 Existence of energy-variational solutions	30
	5.3 Comparison with dissipative weak solutions	34
	5.4 Relative entropy inequality and weak-strong uniqueness	36
R	eferences	39

1 Introduction

Hyperbolic conservation laws form a class of nonlinear evolution equations that is omnipresent in mathematical physics and its applications. These range from traffic models [1] over thermomechanics [2, Sec. 2.3] to fluid dynamics and weather forecast [3]. Even though this class of equations is so fundamental and plays such a prominent role in the research of partial differential equations, up to now there is no suitable concept of generalized solutions such that existence can be established for a large class of general multi-dimensional hyperbolic conservation laws. To contribute to filling this gap, in this article we propose the concept of energy-variational solutions.

We consider general conservation laws

$$\partial_t \mathbf{U} + \operatorname{div} \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{U}) = \mathbf{0}$$
 in $\mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T)$, (1.1a)

$$\boldsymbol{U}(\cdot,0) = \boldsymbol{U}_0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d \tag{1.1b}$$

on the d-dimensional (flat) torus \mathbb{T}^d , $d \in \mathbb{N}$, and for a finite time $T \in (0, \infty)$. Here $U : \mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T) \to \mathbb{R}^m$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, denotes the unknown state variable, $F : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^{m \times d}$ is a given flux matrix depending on the state, and $U_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ denotes prescribed initial data. As usual (cf. [4, Sec. 11.4.2]), we assume that there exists a strictly convex entropy $\eta : \mathbb{R}^m \to [0, \infty]$ such that the total entropy $\mathcal{E}(U(t)) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \eta(U(t)) \, \mathrm{d} x$ is conserved along smooth solutions, but which may decrease along non-smooth solutions. To ensure this, we assume that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) : \nabla D \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0$$

for all suitable \tilde{U} . This condition differs from the usual entropy-pair assumption, where the existence of a corresponding entropy flux is required, but it allows for more general entropy functions and therefore a larger class of conservation laws; see Remark 4 below for further explanation. Observe that we use the letter \mathcal{E} to denote the total entropy since in the considered examples the mathematical entropy is always played by the physical energy of the respective system.

Hyperbolic conservation laws are well understood in one spatial dimension, that is, in the case d=1 or m=1. Going back to the fundamental works of Hopf [5] and Lax [6], the theory is nowadays fairly standard; see [2, 4] for example. In contrast, the one-dimensional theory cannot be transferred to the multi-dimensional case $m, d \ge 2$ immediately, where a general solution concept that ensures solvability is missing. Instead, solution concepts are usually constructed such that they fit to one specific conservation law, and often there are several different concepts for the same equation.

A prominent example is the Euler system for inviscid fluid flow, for which DiPerna and Majda established the existence of measure-valued solutions in the incompressible case [7],



and a weak-strong uniqueness principle was proven later in [8]. Weak-strong uniqueness is another favorable property for any solution concept and means that a generalized solution coincides with a strong solution with the same initial data if the latter exists. In the same article [8], the weak-strong uniqueness of measure-valued solutions to hyperbolic conservation laws was shown, but the existence of these solutions is not known and not expected to hold in general. The weak-strong uniqueness principle for dissipative measure-valued solutions, where the measure-valued formulation is enriched with a defect measure, was shown for more general conservation laws in [9], but still their existence remains unclear. In the case of the compressible Euler equations, the existence of dissipative weak solutions, defined by enriching the weak formulation with a defect measure, was shown in [10], and a weak-strong uniqueness principle was proved in [11].

We shall see that both the incompressible and the compressible Euler equations can be treated in the abstract framework of hyperbolic conservation laws presented here. In particular, we establish existence of energy-variational solutions to both systems, and we show that they coincide with the corresponding dissipative weak solutions. In this respect, we present a new way to construct dissipative weak solutions for these equations. As another example, we consider the equations of magnetohydrodynamics for an incompressible ideal fluid, which means that the effects of viscosity and electrical resistivity are neglected. While there are results on the local existence of strong solutions [12–14], and a weak-strong uniqueness principle for measure-valued solutions was shown in [9], the global existence of suitably generalized solutions seems to be unknown. By providing existence of energy-variational solutions to this system, the present work gives the first result in this direction. We believe that the class of equations considered here is quite general, and that the presented theory yields existence results for many other conservation laws.

While in [9] a weak-strong uniqueness result is provided for a very general class of conservation laws, in the present article we require weaker smoothness assumptions for the entropy η and the flux F. Moreover, the definition of energy-variational solutions does not rely on the introduction of (generalized) Young measures and may be regarded as easier accessible. In particular, the solution at time $t \in (0, T)$ has a simpler structure: It is given as the pair of a vector field U(t) and an auxiliary variable $E(t) \in \mathbb{R}$, whereas measure-valued solutions usually consist of a Young-measure-valued function and additional concentration measures. In the recent work [15], existence and weak-strong uniqueness of energy-variational solutions could be shown for certain viscoelastic fluid models, for which existence of measure-valued solution is not known until now.

To explain the main idea of our solution concept, let us begin with the classical approach towards a generalized solution concept for problem (1.1), namely the notion of weak solutions, defined via the weak formulation of (1.1a), that is, the identity

$$-\langle \boldsymbol{U}, \Phi \rangle \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{U} \cdot \partial_{t} \Phi + \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla \Phi \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, d\tau = 0$$
 (1.2)

for $s, t \in [0, T]$ and all test functions Φ in a suitable class \mathbb{Y} of test functions. As mentioned above, a natural assumption is that the total entropy is non-increasing along solutions, which means that $\mathcal{E}(U)\big|_s^t \leq 0$ if s < t. Combing this condition with (1.2), we obtain the variational inequality

$$\left[\mathcal{E}(U) - \langle U, \Phi \rangle\right]_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} U \cdot \partial_{t} \Phi + F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le 0 \tag{1.3}$$

for s < t and $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. Since (1.2) can be recovered from (1.3) (see also Lemma 2.4 below), we may also take (1.3) to define weak solutions with non-increasing total entropy. As explained



above, existence of such weak solutions cannot be guaranteed for general hyperbolic conservation laws, which is why we introduce the concept of energy-variational solutions. The main idea is to replace the total mechanical entropy $\mathcal{E}(U) \in L^{\infty}(0,T)$ with an auxiliary entropy variable $E \in \mathrm{BV}([0,T])$, which may be seen as a turbulent entropy and may exceed the mechanical entropy of the system. Additionally, we introduce the difference $\mathcal{E}(U) - E \leq 0$, weighted by a suitable factor $\mathcal{K}(\Phi) \geq 0$ depending on the test function, into the equation (1.3). This leads to the inequality

$$[E - \langle U, \Phi \rangle] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} U \cdot \partial_{t} \Phi + F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \left[\mathcal{E}(U) - E \right] \right] \mathrm{d}\tau \le 0$$

$$(1.4)$$

for s < t and $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$, which will serve as the basic inequality defining energy-variational solutions. In particular, if we have $E = \mathcal{E}(U)$, then (1.3) is equivalent to (1.4), and energy-variational solutions coincide with weak solutions. The crucial assumption for our approach is that the function \mathcal{K} is chosen in such a way that the mapping

$$U\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(U):
abla\Phi \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi)\mathcal{E}(U)$$

is convex for any $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. Under this assumption, (U, E) appears in (1.4) in a convex way, so that inequality (1.4) is preserved under weak* convergence.

Note that the idea of relaxing the formulation of an evolution equation to a variational inequality and providing convexity by introducing an additional term goes back to Pierre-Louis Lions in the context of the incompressible Euler equations [16, Sec. 4.4]. Similar solution concepts have recently been used in the context of fluids with viscosity as the incompressible Navier–Stokes equations [17] and viscoelastic fluid models [18].

Besides showing existence of energy-variational solution by using a semi-discretization in time, which may justify their usefulness for numerical implementations, we further show certain properties that are directly included in the solution concept, for example, a weak-strong uniqueness principle. Furthermore, we introduce the concept of energy-variational solutions in such a way that the semi-flow property is satisfied. This is a desirable property of a solvability concept, in particular, when uniqueness of solutions cannot be guaranteed; see [10, 19] for example.

As is the case for many generalized solution concepts, energy-variational solutions may not be unique but instead capture all limits of suitable approximations. Hence, additional selection criteria would have to be applied in order to choose the physically relevant solution. This definitely requires further research, but we shall see that the class of energy-variational solutions has desirable properties for such a selection process. In particular, we prove that the set of energy-variational solutions is convex and weakly* closed, which might make it possible to define an appropriate minimization problem on this set (cf. [20]), and to identify the (unique) minimizer with the physically relevant solution. For scalar conservation laws, Dafermos [21] proposed the entropy-rate admissibility criterion to select the physically relevant solution. He was able to prove that in a certain class this selection procedure coincides with a selection according to the well established Lax-admissibility criterion [21]. It is worth noticing that for the auxiliary variable $E \in BV([0,T])$ the entropy rate $\partial_t E$ is well defined in the space of Radon measures, and the proposed minimization of this value may be defined at least for finitely many points in time. Therefore, it might be possible to follow Dafermos's proposed criterion in the present case. This is in accordance with the semi-discrete time-stepping scheme proposed in (3.8) below, where the energy is minimized in every step, which might provide additional regularity for the minimizer as well as for the solution in the limit. This



question will be further investigated in the future, together with the performance of the proposed semi-discretization in numerical experiments.

The article is organized as follows: In Sect. 2, we explain the relevant notation and introduce the notion of energy-variational solutions for hyperbolic conservation laws. We formulate the main result on their existence and collect several auxiliary lemmas. Section 3 is concerned with the study of energy-variational solutions to these hyperbolic conservation laws. We derive a number of general properties of energy-variational solutions, and we prove the existence of energy-variational solutions via the convergence of a suitable time-discretization based on an iterative minimization procedure. After considering the incompressible hydrodynamical equations and the incompressible Euler equations in Sect. 4, we deal with the compressible Euler equations in Sect. 5.

2 Preliminaries and main result

2.1 Notation

For $d \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote the scalar product of two vectors $\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ by $\boldsymbol{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{b} := \boldsymbol{a}_j \boldsymbol{b}_j$, and the Frobenius product of two matrices $\boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{B} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times d}$ by $\boldsymbol{A} : \boldsymbol{B} := \boldsymbol{A}_{ij} \boldsymbol{B}_{ij}$. Here and in the following, we tacitly use Einstein summation convention and implicitly sum over repeated indices from 1 to d or m depending on the context. By $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\text{sym}}$, $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\text{skw}}$ and $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\text{sym},+}$ we denote the sets of symmetric, skew-symmetric and symmetric positive semi-definite d-dimensional matrices, respectively. The symbols $(\boldsymbol{A})_{\text{sym}} = \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{A} + \boldsymbol{A}^T)$ and $(\boldsymbol{A})_{\text{skw}} = \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{A} - \boldsymbol{A}^T)$ denote the symmetric and the skew-symmetric part of a matrix $\boldsymbol{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, and by $(\boldsymbol{A})_{\text{sym},+}$ and $(\boldsymbol{A})_{\text{sym},-}$, we denote the positive semi-definite and the negative semi-definite part of the symmetric matrix $(\boldsymbol{A})_{\text{sym}}$, respectively. We usually equip matrix spaces with the spectral norm $|\cdot|_2$ defined by

$$|A|_2 = \sup_{|\boldsymbol{a}|=1} \boldsymbol{a}^T \cdot A\boldsymbol{a}, \tag{2.1}$$

that is, $|A|_2$ is the square root of the largest eigenvalue of A^TA . The dual norm of the spectral norm with respect to the Frobenius product is the trace norm and denoted by $|\cdot|_2'$. For symmetric matrices $S \in \mathbb{R}_{\text{sym}}^{d \times d}$ we thus have $|S|_2 = \max_{j \in \{1, \dots, d\}} |\lambda_j|$ and $|S|_2' = \sum_{i=j}^d |\lambda_j|$, where λ_j , $j = 1, \dots, d$, are the (real) eigenvalues of the matrix S. For symmetric positive semi-definite matrices $S \in \mathbb{R}_{\text{sym},+}^{d \times d}$ we may write $|S|_2' = \sum_{i=j}^d \lambda_j = S : I = \text{tr}(S)$, where I denotes the identity matrix in $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$.

By $\mathbb{T}^d:=\mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d$ we denote the d-dimensional (flat) torus equipped with the Lebesgue measure. The Radon measures on \mathbb{T}^d taking values in $\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}}$ are denoted by $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})$, which may be interpreted as the dual space of the corresponding continuous functions, i.e., $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})=(\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})^*$. Moreover, $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym},+})$ is the class of symmetric positive semi-definite Radon measures, which consists of Radon measures $\mu\in\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})$ such that for any $\xi\in\mathbb{R}^d$ the measure $\xi\otimes\xi:\mu$ is nonnegative.

For a Banach space \mathbb{X} , we denote its dual space by \mathbb{X}^* , and we use $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ to denote the associated dual pairing. The space $\mathcal{C}_w([0,T];\mathbb{X})$ denotes the class of functions on [0,T] taking values in \mathbb{X} that are continuous with respect to the weak topology of \mathbb{X} . Analogously, the space $\mathcal{C}_{w^*}([0,T];\mathbb{X}^*)$ denotes the class of functions on [0,T] taking values in \mathbb{X}^* that are continuous with respect to the weak* topology of \mathbb{X}^* . The space $L^\infty_{w^*}([0,T];\mathbb{X}^*)$ is the space



103 Page 6 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

of all function on [0, T] taking values in \mathbb{X}^* that are Bochner measurable and essentially bounded with respect to \mathbb{X}^* equipped with the weak* topology.

We write $x_n \to x$ if a sequence $(x_n) \subset \mathbb{X}$ converges weakly to some $x \in \mathbb{X}$, and $\varphi_n \stackrel{*}{\to} \varphi$ if a sequence $(\varphi_n) \subset \mathbb{X}^*$ converges weakly* to some $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}^*$. In spaces of the form $L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbb{X})$ we usually consider a mixture of the weak convergence in \mathbb{X} and weak* convergence in L^{∞} , which we call weak(*) convergence, and we write $u_n \stackrel{(*)}{\longrightarrow} u$ if a sequence $(u_n) \subset L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbb{X})$ converges weakly(*) to some $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbb{X})$, that is, if

$$\forall f \in L^{1}(0, T; \mathbb{X}^{*}): \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{T} \langle u_{n}(t), f(t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{T} \langle u(t), f(t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t. \tag{2.2}$$

The total variation of a function $E:[0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$|E|_{\text{TV}([0,T])} = \sup_{0=t_0 < \dots < t_n = T} \sum_{k=1}^n |E(t_{k-1}) - E(t_k)|,$$

where the supremum is taken over all finite partitions of the interval [0, T]. We denote the space of all integrable functions on [0, T] with bounded variation by BV([0,T]), and we equip this space with the norm $||E||_{BV([0,T])} := ||E||_{L^1(0,T)} + |E|_{TV([0,T])}$ (cf. [22]). Recall that an integrable function E has bounded variation if and only if its distributional derivative E' is an element of $\mathcal{M}([0,T])$, the space of finite Radon measures on [0,T]. Moreover, BV([0,T]) coincides with the dual space of a Banach space, see [23, Remark 3.12] for example, and we usually work with the corresponding weak* convergence, which can be characterized by

$$E_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} E \text{ in BV}([0,T]) \iff E_n \to E \text{ in } L^1(0,T) \text{ and } E'_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} E' \text{ in } \mathcal{M}([0,T]).$$

Note that the total variation of a decreasing non-negative function E can be estimated by the initial value since

$$|E|_{\mathrm{TV}([0,T])} = \sup_{0 = t_0 < \dots < t_n = T} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(E(t_{k-1}) - E(t_k) \right) = E(0) - E(T) \le E(0).$$

Let $\eta: \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty]$ be a convex, lower semi-continuous function with $\eta(\mathbf{0}) = 0$. The domain of η is defined by dom $\eta = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \eta(\mathbf{x}) < \infty \}$. We denote the convex conjugate of η by η^* , which is defined by

$$\eta^*(z) = \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^m} [z \cdot \mathbf{y} - \eta(\mathbf{y})]$$
 for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^m$.

Then η^* is also convex, lower semi-continuous, non-negative and satisfies $\eta^*(\mathbf{0}) = 0$. We introduce the subdifferential $\partial \eta$ of η by

$$\partial \eta(y) := \left\{ z \in \mathbb{R}^m \mid \forall \tilde{y} \in \mathbb{R}^m : \ \eta(\tilde{y}) \le \eta(y) + z \cdot (\tilde{y} - y) \right\}$$

for $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$. The subdifferential $\partial \eta^*$ of η^* is defined analogously. Then the Fenchel equivalences hold: For $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$z \in \partial \eta(y) \iff y \in \partial \eta^*(z) \iff \eta(y) + \eta^*(z) = z \cdot y.$$
 (2.3)

A proof of this well-known result can be found in [24, Prop 2.33] for example. If $\partial \eta(y)$ is a singleton for some $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, then η is Fréchet differentiable in y and $\partial \eta(y) = \{D\eta(y)\}$. In this case, we identify $\partial \eta(y)$ with $D\eta(y)$.



2.2 Main result

We introduce the notion of energy-variational solutions to the hyperbolic conservation law (1.1). Consider an entropy functional $\eta: \mathbb{R}^m \to [0, \infty], m \in \mathbb{N}$. We define the total entropy functional

$$\mathcal{E} \colon L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{m}) \to [0, \infty], \qquad \mathcal{E}(U) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \eta(U) \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{2.4}$$

with domain dom $\mathcal{E}:=\{U\in L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)\mid \mathcal{E}(U)<\infty\}$. As the set of test functions, we consider a closed subspace \mathbb{Y} of $\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$. We next collect further assumptions on η , F, and \mathbb{Y} .

Hypothesis 2.1 Assume that $\eta: \mathbb{R}^m \to [0, \infty]$ is a strictly convex and lower semi-continuous function that satisfies $\eta(\mathbf{0}) = 0$ and has superlinear growth, that is,

$$\lim_{|\mathbf{y}| \to \infty} \frac{\eta(\mathbf{y})}{|\mathbf{y}|} = \infty. \tag{2.5}$$

We assume that the set

$$\mathbb{D} := \{ U \in \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{E} \mid \exists \{ \Phi_n \}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{Y} : D\eta^* \circ \Phi_n \rightharpoonup U \text{ in } L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m) \}$$
 (2.6)

is convex. Furthermore, let $F: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^{m \times d}$ be a measurable function such that there exists a constant C > 0 with

$$\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^m : |F(y)| \le C(\eta(y) + 1), \tag{2.7}$$

and such that

$$\forall \Phi \in \mathbb{Y} : \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{F}(D\eta^*(\Phi(x))) : \nabla \Phi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0. \tag{2.8}$$

We further assume that there exists a convex and continuous function $\mathcal{K}:\mathbb{Y}\to[0,\infty)$ such that for any $\Phi\in\mathbb{Y}$ the mapping

$$\mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad U \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \mathcal{E}(U)$$
 (2.9)

is convex, lower semi-continuous and non-negative.

Before we further explain the assumptions made in Hypothesis 2.1, let us introduce the notion of energy-variational solutions and formulate the main result on their existence.

Definition 2.2 (Energy-variational solutions) A pair $(U, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathbb{D}) \times BV([0,T])$ is called an energy-variational solution to (1.1) if $\mathcal{E}(U) \leq E$ a.e. on [0, T], if

$$[E - \langle \boldsymbol{U}, \boldsymbol{\Phi} \rangle] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{U} \cdot \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\Phi} + \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\Phi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}) - E \right] \right] \mathrm{d}\tau \leq 0$$
(2.10)

for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{Y})$ and a.a. $s, t \in (0, T), s < t$, including s = 0 with $U(0) = U_0$.

While energy-variational solutions may not have much regularity at the outset, we shall see that the initial value U_0 is attained in the weak* sense in \mathbb{Y}^* , and that U and E can be redefined such that E is non-increasing and $U \in \mathcal{C}_{m^*}([0, T]; \mathbb{Y}^*)$, see Proposition 3.1 below.

As the main result of this article, we show existence of energy-variational solutions under the previously specified assumptions.



Theorem 2.3 (Existence of energy-variational solutions) *Let Hypothesis* 2.1 *be satisfied, and let* $U_0 \in \mathbb{D}$. *Then there exists an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition* 2.2 *with* $E(0+) = \mathcal{E}(U_0)$.

The proof of this theorem relies on a suitable time discretization and is provided in Sect. 3.3. Next we further comment on the assumptions stated in Hypothesis 2.1 and on the solution concept of energy-variational solutions.

Remark 1 Hypothesis 2.1 ensures, that the integrals in (2.8) and (2.9) are well defined. For the integral in (2.9) note that the estimate (2.7) implies $|F \circ U| \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^d)$ for all $U \in \mathbb{D}$. For the left-hand side of (2.8), we first observe that $\partial \eta^*$ is single valued by Lemma 2.7 below, since η has superlinear growth. The Fenchel equivalences (2.3) yield the identity

$$\eta(D\eta^*(\Phi(x))) = D\eta^*(\Phi(x)) \cdot \Phi(x) - \eta^*(\Phi(x)),$$

which shows that $x \mapsto \eta(D\eta^*(\Phi(x)))$ is a continuous function on the compact set \mathbb{T}^d and thus bounded for any $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. Hence $D\eta^* \circ \Phi \in \text{dom } \mathcal{E}$. Therefore, inequality (2.7) yields a bound for the integrand in (2.8).

Remark 2 The convexity assumption on \mathbb{D} can be seen as a compatibility condition on the space \mathbb{Y} and the entropy η . We note that $D\eta^* \circ \Phi \in \text{dom } \mathcal{E}$ for $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$ as shown in Remark 1. Moreover, for any sequence $\{U_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathbb{D}$ with bounded entropies, $\mathcal{E}(U_n)\leq C$, there is a convergent subsequence with limit $U\in\mathbb{D}$. Indeed, (2.5) yields the existence of a subsequence weakly converging to U in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ with $\mathcal{E}(U)\leq C$, see Lemma 2.6 below. A diagonalization argument gives a sequence $\{\Phi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathbb{Y}$ with $D\eta^*\circ\Phi_n\rightharpoonup U$ in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$, which shows $U\in\mathbb{D}$.

In the case of a quadratic functional $\eta(y) = a|y|^2$, a > 0, the set \mathbb{D} is the weak closure of \mathbb{Y} in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$. Since \mathbb{Y} is a linear subspace and η is quadratic, this is nothing else than the strong closure of \mathbb{Y} in $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$. In particular, the convexity of \mathbb{D} is satisfied trivially.

In the case $\mathbb{Y}=\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$, we have $\mathbb{D}=\operatorname{dom}\mathcal{E}$. In particular, \mathbb{D} is convex. Since $\operatorname{dom}(\partial\mathcal{E})$ is dense in $\operatorname{dom}\mathcal{E}$ (see [24, Corollary 2.44]) this follows from the above approximation property and $\operatorname{dom}(\partial\mathcal{E})\subset\mathbb{D}$. To see the latter, let $U\in\operatorname{dom}(\partial\mathcal{E})$. From [24, Prop. 2.53], we infer that the existence of $\Phi\in L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\Phi(x)\in\partial\eta(U(x))$ for a.a. $x\in\mathbb{T}^d$, that is, $D\eta^*(\Phi(x))=U(x)$ by the Fenchel equivalences (2.3). The density of $\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ in $L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ with respect to the weak* topology, guarantees the existence of a sequence $\{\Phi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ with $\|\Phi_n\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)}\leq \|\Phi\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)}$ and $\Phi_n\to\Phi$ a.e. in \mathbb{T}^d , see [25, Ex. 4.25]. Lebesgue's convergence theorem allows to conclude that $D\eta^*(\Phi_n)\to U$ in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$ by the continuity of $D\eta^*$, which shows $U\in\mathbb{D}$.

Remark 3 Instead of assuming that $\eta(\mathbf{0}) = 0$ and $\eta \geq 0$, we may consider a function $\eta : \mathbb{R}^m \to (-\infty, \infty]$ that attains its minimum at $\mathbf{0}$. Indeed, the original assumptions can then be recovered by simply adding a suitable constant to η .

Remark 4 Equation (2.8) ensures that the total entropy is conserved along smooth solutions. Indeed, if U is a solution and all functions are sufficiently smooth, then we formally have

$$egin{aligned} rac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(U) &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \partial_t U \cdot D\eta(U) \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} [\mathrm{div}\, F(U)] \cdot D\eta(U) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(U) :
abla D\eta(U) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \end{aligned}$$



where the last identity follows from (2.8) with $\Phi = D\eta(U)$. Classically, this conservation property is ensured by requiring the existence of an entropy flux $q: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$D\eta(\mathbf{y})^T D\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{y}) = D\mathbf{q}(\mathbf{y})^T \tag{2.11}$$

for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, which is a shorthand for the relation

$$D\eta(\mathbf{y})^T D\mathbf{F}_j(\mathbf{y}) = D\mathbf{q}_j(\mathbf{y})^T \qquad (j = 1, \dots, d).$$

Clearly, this identity only makes sense if η and, in particular, F are smooth enough. This smoothness cannot be guaranteed for general conservation laws as we shall see in Sect. 5 in the context of the compressible Euler equations. However, if this is the case, then (2.8) follows from (2.11). Indeed, setting $U = D\eta^*(\Phi)$, that is, $\Phi = D\eta(U)$, and integrating by parts, we deduce

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(D\eta^*(\Phi)) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla D\eta(\boldsymbol{U}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[D\eta(\boldsymbol{U})^T \, D\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) \right] : \nabla \boldsymbol{U} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} D\boldsymbol{q}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{U} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{q}(\boldsymbol{U}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0. \end{split}$$

Instead of verifying (2.8) directly, one can also show existence of a vector field $\tilde{q}: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $\tilde{q} \circ D\eta^* \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^m; \mathbb{R}^d)$ and

$$\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^m : \quad \boldsymbol{F}(D\eta^*(z)) = D\big[\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}} \circ D\eta^*\big](z). \tag{2.12}$$

This implies

$$F(D\eta^*(\Phi))\nabla\Phi = \operatorname{div}\left[\tilde{q}(D\eta^*(\Phi))\right]$$

for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$, so that (2.8) follows from the divergence theorem. Observe that, in contrast to (2.11), condition (2.12) does not require F to be differentiable. Moreover, we do not require differentiability of \tilde{q} and $D\eta^*$ but merely of their composition. This distinction can be helpful since there are standard cases where η^* is not twice differentiable, for example, the compressible Euler equations, which we study in Sect. 5.

Formally, the relations (2.12) and (2.11) are equivalent in the case that $\eta^* \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^m)$ and $D^2\eta^*(z)$ is invertible at each $z \in \mathbb{R}^m$. Indeed, choosing $y = D\eta^*(z)$, we find by (2.3) and the chain rule that

$$\begin{split} \left[D\eta (D\eta^*(z))^T DF (D\eta^*(z)) - Dq (D\eta^*(z)) \right] D^2 \eta^*(z) \\ &= z^T D[F (D\eta^*(z))] - D[q (D\eta^*(z))] \\ &= D \big[z^T F (D\eta^*(z)) - q (D\eta^*(z)) \big] - F (D\eta^*(z)). \end{split}$$

Hence, (2.11) is satisfied if and only if (2.12) holds for $\tilde{q}(U) = D\eta(U)^T F(U) - q(U)$.

Remark 5 In case that F is entropy-convex, i.e., there exists a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that $|F| + \lambda \eta$ is a convex, weakly lower semi-continuous function on \mathbb{R}^m , we may choose $\mathcal{K}(\Phi) = \lambda \|\nabla \Phi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$. We shall use a similar functional \mathcal{K} in Sect. 4.1, but finer choices may be possible as we shall see in Sects. 4.2 and 5.

Remark 6 (Boundary conditions) In order to simplify the analysis, we restrict ourselves to the case of periodic boundary conditions. But the method can also be adapted to more general boundary conditions. These can usually be included into our framework by modification of the space of test functions \mathbb{Y} ; see also Remark 13 below.



103 Page 10 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

2.3 Auxiliary results

Before we start with the analysis of energy-variational solutions, we prepare several auxiliary lemmas. We start with the following basic result on an affine linear variational inequality.

Lemma 2.4 Let \mathbb{X} be a Banach space, and let $a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $y_1, y_2 \in \mathbb{X}^*$ such that

$$a_1 + \langle y_1, x \rangle < a_2 + \langle y_2, x \rangle$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{X}$. Then $a_1 < a_2$ and $y_1 = y_2$.

Proof The choice x = 0 directly yields $a_1 \le a_2$. To infer $y_1 = y_2$, let $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{X}$ and $\lambda > 0$. Choosing $x = \lambda \bar{x}$ and dividing by λ , we deduce

$$\lambda^{-1}a_1 + \langle y_1, \bar{x} \rangle < \lambda^{-1}a_2 + \langle y_2, \bar{x} \rangle.$$

A a passage to the limit $\lambda \to \infty$ yields $\langle y_1, \bar{x} \rangle \leq \langle y_2, \bar{x} \rangle$. Choosing $x = -\lambda \bar{x}$ and proceeding in the same way results in the converse inequality, and we obtain $\langle y_1, \bar{x} \rangle = \langle y_2, \bar{x} \rangle$. Since $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{X}$ was arbitrary, this yields $y_1 = y_2$ and completes the proof.

The next result yields the equivalence of a pointwise inequality and its variational formulation.

Lemma 2.5 Let $f \in L^1(0, T)$, $g \in L^{\infty}(0, T)$ and $g_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the following two statements are equivalent:

i. The inequality

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \phi'(\tau)g(\tau) d\tau + \int_{0}^{T} \phi(\tau)f(\tau) d\tau - \phi(0)g_{0} \le 0$$
 (2.13)

holds for all $\phi \in C_c^1([0, T))$ with $\phi \geq 0$.

ii. The inequality

$$g(t) - g(s) + \int_{s}^{t} f(\tau) d\tau \le 0$$
 (2.14)

holds for a.e. $s, t \in [0, T)$ with s < t, including s = 0 if we replace g(0) with g_0 .

If one of these conditions is satisfied, then g can be identified with a function in BV([0,T]) such that

$$g(t+) - g(s-) + \int_{s}^{t} f(\tau) d\tau \le 0$$
 (2.15)

for all $s, t \in [0, T)$ with $s \le t$, where we set $g(0-) := g_0$. In particular, it holds $g(0+) \le g_0$ and $g(t+) \le g(t-)$ for all $t \in (0, T)$.

Proof To see that (2.13) implies (2.14), one can use a standard procedure and approximate the indicator function of the interval (s,t) by elements of $\mathcal{C}^1_c([0,T))$. For the inverse implication, first note that (2.14) implies that g coincides a.e. with an element of BV([0,T]). Hence, one-sided limits of g exist in each point, and we deduce (2.15) from (2.14). The choice s=t in (2.14) implies $g(t+) \leq g(t-)$ and $g(0+) \leq g_0$. Now let $0 \leq \phi \in \mathcal{C}^1_c([0,T))$ and consider a partition $0 = s_0 \leq t_0 < s_1 < t_1 < \cdots < s_N < t_N < T$ of [0,T] such that

$$\phi' \ge 0$$
 in $[t_{i-1}, s_i], \quad \phi' \le 0$ in $[s_i, t_i], \quad \phi = \phi' = 0$ in $[t_N, T]$.



To show (2.13), we subdivide the left-hand side of this inequality accordingly. Since $\phi' \le 0$ in $[s_i, t_i]$, we can use (2.15) with $s = s_i$ and integration by parts to estimate

$$\begin{split} -\int_{s_{j}}^{t_{j}} \phi'(\tau)g(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau &\leq -\int_{s_{j}}^{t_{j}} \phi'(\tau) \bigg(g(s_{j}-) - \int_{s_{j}}^{\tau} f(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \bigg) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= -\phi(t_{j}) \bigg(g(s_{j}-) - \int_{s_{j}}^{t_{j}} f(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \bigg) + \phi(s_{j})g(s_{j}-) - \int_{s_{j}}^{t_{j}} \phi(\tau)f(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau, \end{split}$$

where for j = 0 we have to replace $g(s_0 -)$ with g_0 . Since $\phi' \ge 0$ in $[t_{j-1}, s_j]$, we can use (2.15) with $t = s_j$ in a similar way to conclude

$$\begin{split} -\int_{t_{j-1}}^{s_j} \phi'(\tau) g(\tau) \, \, \mathrm{d}\tau & \leq -\int_{t_{j-1}}^{s_j} \phi'(\tau) \bigg(g(s_j +) + \int_{\tau}^{s_j} f(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \bigg) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & = -\phi(s_j) g(s_j +) + \phi(t_{j-1}) \bigg(g(s_j +) + \int_{t_{j-1}}^{s_j} f(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \bigg) - \int_{t_{j-1}}^{s_j} \phi(\tau) f(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{split}$$

Summing up and using $\phi = \phi' = 0$ in $[t_N, T]$, we obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \phi'(\tau)g(\tau) d\tau + \int_{0}^{T} \phi(\tau)f(\tau) d\tau - \phi(0)g_{0}$$

$$= -\sum_{j=0}^{N} \int_{s_{j}}^{t_{j}} \phi'(\tau)g(\tau) d\tau - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{t_{j-1}}^{s_{j}} \phi'(\tau)g(\tau) d\tau + \int_{0}^{T} \phi(\tau)f(\tau) d\tau - \phi(0)g_{0}$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi(s_{j})(g(s_{j}-) - g(s_{j}+)) + \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \phi(t_{j})(g(s_{j+1}+) - g(s_{j}-) + \int_{s_{j}}^{s_{j+1}} f(\tau) d\tau)$$

Since $\phi \ge 0$, invoking inequality (2.15) and that $g(t+) \ge g(t-)$, we can estimate the terms in the last line by 0 and finally conclude (2.13).

Next we show an adaption of a well-known theorem by de la Vallée Poussin, see [26, Sect. 1.2, Theorem 2] for example. For the sake of completeness, we give a proof here. Observe that the statement remains valid if \mathbb{T}^d is replaced with any other finite measure space.

Lemma 2.6 Let $\psi : \mathbb{R}^m \to [0, \infty]$ have superlinear growth, i.e., $\lim_{|y| \to \infty} \psi(y)/|y| = \infty$, and let $\mathcal{F} \subset L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and C > 0 such that

$$\forall U \in \mathcal{F}: \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \psi(U) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C.$$

Then the set \mathcal{F} is equi-integrable and thus relatively weakly compact in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$.

Proof Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and set $M = 2C/\varepsilon$. By assumption, we can choose R > 0 so large that |y| > R implies $\psi(y) > M|y|$. Let $A \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ be a measurable set with $|A| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2R}$. Then

$$\int_{A} |U| \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\{x \in A \mid |U(x)| \le R\}} |U| \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\{x \in A \mid |U(x)| > R\}} |U| \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq R|A| + \frac{1}{M} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \psi(U(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \le \varepsilon.$$

This shows

$$\lim_{|A|\to 0}\sup_{\boldsymbol{U}\in\mathcal{F}}\int_{A}|\boldsymbol{U}|\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}=0,$$



that is, the equi-integrability of \mathcal{F} . The relative weak compactness of \mathcal{F} now follows from the Dunford–Pattis theorem [27, Thm. 3.2.1].

The next lemma collects useful properties of a convex functionals with superlinear growth.

Lemma 2.7 Let $\eta: \mathbb{R}^m \to [0, \infty]$ be a strictly convex, lower semi-continuous function with $\eta(\mathbf{0}) = 0$ and (2.5). Then the set-valued operator $\partial \eta: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is maximal monotone and surjective. Moreover, the convex conjugate η^* is globally defined and continuously differentiable. In particular,

$$\forall z \in \mathbb{R}^d : (\partial \eta)^{-1}(\{z\}) = \partial \eta^*(z) = \{D\eta^*(z)\}.$$

Proof The subdifferential $\partial \eta$ induces a maximal monotone operator according to [24, Thm. 2.43], and from [24, Prop. 2.47] we infer that this operator is surjective. The Fenchel equivalences (2.3) allow to identify this inverse with the subdifferential of the conjugate η^* . Note that η^* is even Gateaux-differentiable [24, Rem. 2.41 and Prop. 2.40] and continuous with dom $\eta^* = \mathbb{R}^d$ [24, Prop. 2.25 and Thm. 2.14]. The assertion that $\partial \eta^*$ is single-valued and continuous can be found in [28, Thm. 5.20].

We use some of these properties to prove the following lemma that shows a way how to continuously interpolate between 0 and a given value in the range of \mathcal{E} defined in (2.4).

Lemma 2.8 In the situation of Lemma 2.7, let $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and $\tilde{U} = D\eta^* \circ \Phi$. Then the mapping

$$\mathcal{G}: [0,1] \to [0,\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}})], \quad \alpha \mapsto \mathcal{E}(D\eta^*(\alpha\Phi))$$

is well defined, continuous and surjective.

Proof Fix $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$, and let $y = \tilde{U}(x) \in \text{dom } \partial \eta$ and $z = \Phi(x) \in \partial \eta(y)$. Consider

$$f: [0,1] \to [0,\infty], \quad \alpha \mapsto \eta(D\eta^*(\alpha z))$$

Since $\partial \eta^*$ has full domain and is single valued according to Lemma 2.7, the mapping is well defined. Via the Fenchel equivalences (2.3), we may further express f as

$$f(\alpha) = \eta(D\eta^*(\alpha z)) = \langle D\eta^*(\alpha z), \alpha z \rangle - \eta^*(\alpha z).$$

This shows that $f(\alpha)$ is finite and that f is continuous since η^* and $D\eta^*$ are continuous by Lemma 2.7. Moreover, f(0) = 0 and $f(1) = \eta(y)$, and via Fenchel's identity and the monotonicity of $D\eta^*$, we further observe for $0 \le \beta < \alpha \le 1$ that

$$\begin{split} f(\alpha) - f(\beta) &= \langle D\eta^*(\alpha z), \alpha z \rangle - \langle D\eta^*(\beta z) \, \beta z \rangle - \left(\eta^*(\alpha z) - \eta^*(\beta z) \right) \\ &\geq \langle D\eta^*(\alpha z), \alpha z \rangle - \langle D\eta^*(\beta z), \beta z \rangle + \langle D\eta^*(\alpha z), \beta z - \alpha z \rangle \\ &= \frac{\beta}{\alpha - \beta} \left\langle D\eta^*(\alpha z) - D\eta^*(\beta z), \alpha z - \beta z \right\rangle \geq 0. \end{split}$$

Hence, f is a continuous and non-decreasing mapping with range $[0, \eta(y)]$. This implies that the mapping \mathcal{G} is well defined with $0 = \mathcal{G}(0) \leq \mathcal{G}(\alpha) \leq \mathcal{G}(1) = \mathcal{E}(\tilde{U})$ for all $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. Using Lebesgue's theorem on dominated convergence, we further conclude that \mathcal{G} is continuous, which also implies that \mathcal{G} is surjective.

We shall also make use of the following result on the extension of certain linear functionals.



Lemma 2.9 Let $l: V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a linear continuous functional, where V is a closed subspace of

$$\mathcal{U} := \big\{ \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}_0^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T); \mathbb{R}^d) \mid \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \big\}.$$

Set

$$\mathcal{I} \colon \mathcal{U} \to L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\text{sym}})), \quad \mathcal{I}(\pmb{\psi}) = (\nabla \pmb{\psi})_{\text{sym}},$$

and let $\mathfrak{p}: L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{sym}))\to\mathbb{R}$ be a sublinear mapping such that

$$\forall \psi \in \mathcal{V} \colon \langle l, \psi \rangle < \mathfrak{p}(\mathcal{I}(\psi)). \tag{2.16}$$

Then there exists an element

$$\mathfrak{R} \in (L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{sym})))^* = L^\infty_{w^*}(0,T;\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{sym}))$$

satisfying

$$\forall \Phi \in L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\text{sym}})): \ \langle -\mathfrak{R},\Phi \rangle \leq \mathfrak{p}(\Phi), \qquad \forall \pmb{\psi} \in \mathcal{V}: \ \langle -\mathfrak{R},\mathcal{I}(\pmb{\psi}) \rangle = \langle \pmb{l},\pmb{\psi} \rangle.$$

Proof First consider $\psi \in \mathcal{V}$ with $\mathcal{I}(\psi) = 0$. This implies that $\psi(\cdot, t)$ is affine linear, and since $\psi \in \mathcal{V}$ is spatially periodic and has vanishing mean value, this is only possible for $\psi = 0$. Therefore, \mathcal{I} is injective, and on its image $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{I}(\mathcal{V})$ we can define the functional L by $\langle L, \Psi \rangle = \langle I, \psi \rangle$ for $\Psi = \mathcal{I}(\psi) \in \mathcal{W}$. Then estimate (2.16) implies

$$\langle L, \Psi \rangle \le \mathfrak{p}(\Psi)$$
 (2.17)

for all $\Psi \in \mathcal{W} \subset L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\operatorname{sym}}))$. By the Hahn–Banach theorem (see e.g. [25, Thm 1.1]), we may extend L from \mathcal{W} to a linear functional on $L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\operatorname{sym}}))$. Using the Riesz representation theorem, we may identify this extension with an object $-\mathfrak{R}$ such that the asserted properties are satisfied.

3 Properties and existence of energy-variational solutions

In this section we collect several general properties of energy-variational solutions that follow directly from Definition 2.2. Moreover, under additional regularity assumptions, we can show a relative entropy inequality, which yields a weak-strong uniqueness principle. Finally, in Sect. 3.3, we introduce a time-discrete scheme that leads to the existence of energy-variational solutions as claimed in Theorem 2.3.

3.1 General properties

Let us begin with some continuity properties of energy-variational solutions, which follow directly from Definition 2.2.

Proposition 3.1 Let (U, E) be an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 2.2. Then U and E can be redefined on a subset of [0, T] of measure zero such that E is a non-increasing function and such that $U \in \mathcal{C}_{w^*}([0, T]; \mathbb{Y}^*)$ with $U(0) = U_0$ in \mathbb{Y}^* . Then



103 Page 14 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

inequality (2.10) is fulfilled everywhere in [0, T] in the sense that for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{Y})$ it holds

$$[E - \langle U, \Phi \rangle] \Big|_{s-}^{t+} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} U \cdot \partial_{t} \Phi + F(U) : \nabla \Phi + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) [\mathcal{E}(U) - E] \, dx \, d\tau \leq 0$$

$$(3.1)$$

for all $s \le t \in [0, T)$, where $E(0-) - \langle U(0-), \Phi(0-) \rangle := E(0+) - \langle U_0, \Phi(0) \rangle$.

Proof Setting $\Phi \equiv 0$ in inequality (2.10), we infer that $E\Big|_s^t \le 0$ for a.e. $t > s \in (0, T)$. Since $E \in BV([0,T])$, all left-sided and right-sided limits exist and E is continuous except for countably many points, so that we can redefine E such that it is non-increasing. For any fixed $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathbb{Y})$ we further observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \left[E - \langle \boldsymbol{U}, \boldsymbol{\Phi} \rangle \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} &\leq - \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{U} \cdot \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\Phi} + \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\Phi} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}) - E \right] \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \eta(\boldsymbol{U}) + \eta^{*}(\partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\Phi}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}) E \right] \mathrm{d}\tau \end{aligned}$$

for a.e. $t > s \in (0, T)$, where we used the Fenchel–Young inequality and the non-negativity of the function in (2.9). This implies that $t \mapsto E(t) - \langle U(t), \Phi(t) \rangle \in BV([0,T])$. In particular, left-sided and right-sided limits of this function exist, and passing to those limits in (2.10) yields (3.1). Choosing now s = t and $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$ independent of time, we infer that

$$[E - \langle U, \Phi \rangle] \Big|_{t-}^{t+} \le 0 \text{ for all } t \in (0, T) \text{ and } \Phi \in \mathbb{Y}.$$

Lemma 2.4 now yields U(t+) = U(t-) in \mathbb{Y}^* for all $t \in (0, T)$ *i.e.*, we can redefine U on a set of measure 0 such that $U \in \mathcal{C}_{w^*}([0, T]; \mathbb{Y}^*)$.

Proposition 3.2 Assume that for two elements $V, W \in \mathbb{D}$ with $\langle V - W, \Phi \rangle = 0$ for all $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$ it holds V = W. Then we have $U \in \mathcal{C}_w([0,T];L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m))$. Furthermore, if $\mathcal{E}(U_0) = E(0)$, the initial value is attained in the strong sense in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^m)$.

Proof Let $t \in [0, T]$ and consider a sequence $\{t_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, T]$ with $t_n \to t$. Then $\mathcal{E}(U(t_n)) \leq E(t_n) \leq E_0$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and from (2.5) and Lemma 2.6 we infer that the set $\{U(t_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is relatively weakly compact in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$. Hence, we may extract a subsequence such that

$$U(t_{n_k}) \rightharpoonup A_t$$
 in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$

for some $A_t \in \mathbb{D}$. As shown above, we also have

$$U(t_{n_k}) \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} U(t)$$
 in \mathbb{Y}^* .

We infer that $\langle U(t), \Phi \rangle = \langle A_t, \Phi \rangle$ for all $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. The assumption implies $U(t) = A_t$. Due to the uniqueness of the weak limit, all subsequences converge to this limit, so that $U \in \mathcal{C}_w([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m))$.

Moreover, if $\mathcal{E}(U_0) = E(0)$, we infer

$$E(0) \ge \lim_{t \searrow 0} E(t) \ge \lim_{t \searrow 0} \mathcal{E}(U(t)) \ge \mathcal{E}(U_0) = E(0)$$

due to the monotonicity of the function E and the weak lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{E} . We conclude that $\mathcal{E}(U(t)) \to \mathcal{E}(U_0)$ as $t \to 0$. Since we also have $U(t) \rightharpoonup U_0$, from the strict convexity of \mathcal{E} , we infer that $U(t) \to U_0$ strongly in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ by [29, Thm. 10.20].



Remark 7 (Semi-flow property) We note that energy-variational solutions fulfill the semi-flow property. This means that the restriction of a solution to a smaller time interval as well as the concatenation of two solutions (U_1, E_1) and (U_2, E_2) on subsequent time intervals (t_0, t_1) and (t_1, t_2) with $(U_1(t_1-), E_1(t_1-)) = (U_2(t_1+), E_2(t_1+))$. is again a solution. This follows from Proposition 3.1 due to inequality (3.1) for all $t \ge s \in [0, T]$ and the weak* continuity of the solution.

Proposition 3.3 (Solution set) The set of all energy-variational solutions with common initial value $U_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ is convex. Moreover, let $\mathcal{E}(U_0) \leq B$ for some B > 0, and let S be the set of all energy-variational solutions (U, E) with initial value $U_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ and $E(0) \leq B$. Then S is compact in $L^{\infty}(0, T; L^1(\mathbb{T}^d)) \times BV([0,T])$ with respect to the weak* topology in BV([0,T]) and the weak(*) topology in $L^{\infty}(0, T; L^1(\mathbb{T}^d))$ defined in (2.2).

Proof Using the convexity of \mathcal{E} and of the mapping from (2.9), one readily sees that all terms involving (U, E) appear in a convex way in (2.10). Therefore, the convex combination of two energy-variational solutions with coincident initial value is again an energy-variational solution with the same initial value.

Now consider the set S. By Proposition 3.1, we may assume that for all $(U, E) \in S$ the function E is non-increasing, which implies that $|E|_{TV([0,T])} \le B$. Due to the inequality $\mathcal{E}(U(t)) \le E(t)$ for a.a. $t \in [0, T]$ and the superlinear growth of η , we infer from Lemma 2.6 and Helly's selection theorem (cf. [24, Thm. 1.126]) that any sequence in S contains a subsequence $\{(U^n, E^n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$U^{n} \xrightarrow{(*)} U \qquad \text{in } L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})),$$

$$E^{n} \xrightarrow{*} E \qquad \text{in BV}([0,T]),$$

$$E^{n}(t) \longrightarrow E(t) \qquad \text{for all } t \in [0, T].$$

$$(3.2)$$

For the initial values, we may further extract a subsequence such that $E^n(0+) \to E_0$ for some $E_0 \le B$, and we have $U^n(0) = U_0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Using Lemma 2.5, we may rewrite the energy-variational inequality (2.10) in its weak form

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \phi' \left[E^{n} - \langle \boldsymbol{U}^{n}, \Phi \rangle \right] dt - \phi(0) \left[E^{n}(0+) - \langle \boldsymbol{U}_{0}, \Phi(0) \rangle \right]$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \phi \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) : \nabla \Phi d\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) - E^{n} \right] \right] dt \leq 0$$

for all $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^1_c([0,T])$ with $\phi \geq 0$ and for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{Y})$. Via the convergences (3.2), we may pass to the limit in this formulation and obtain, again by Lemma 2.5, the formulation (2.10). Moreover, the weak lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{E} allows to deduce that $E(t) \geq \mathcal{E}(U(t))$ for a.e. $t \in (0,T)$. Consequently, (U,E) is an energy-variational solution in \mathcal{S} .

Proposition 3.4 Let $(U, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathbb{D}) \times BV([0,T])$ be an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 2.2, and let the regularity weight K be homogeneous of degree one, i.e., $K(\alpha\Phi) = \alpha K(\Phi)$ for all $\alpha \in [0, \infty)$ and $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. Then the inequality (2.10) is equivalent to the two inequalities

$$E\Big|_{s}^{t} \leq 0, \quad -\langle U, \Phi \rangle \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} U \cdot \partial_{t} \Phi + F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \left[\mathcal{E}(U) - E \right] \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leq 0$$

$$(3.3)$$



103 Page 16 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

for a.a. $s, t \in (0, T)$, s < t, and for all $\Phi \in C^1([0, T]; \mathbb{Y})$.

Proof Summation of the two inequalities in (3.3) directly gives the inequality (2.10). For the converse direction, the first inequality in (3.3) can be deduced from (2.10) by choosing $\Phi \equiv 0$. In order to infer the second inequality in (3.3), we choose $\Phi = \alpha \Psi$ in (2.10) for $\alpha > 0$ and $\Psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{Y})$. Multiplying the resulting inequality by $\frac{1}{\alpha}$ implies

$$\left[\frac{1}{\alpha}E - \langle \boldsymbol{U}, \Psi \rangle\right] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{U} \cdot \partial_{t} \Psi + \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) : \nabla \Psi \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\Psi) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}) - E\right] \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leq 0.$$

Passing to the limit $\alpha \to \infty$, we infer the second inequality in (3.3).

3.2 Relative entropy and weak-strong uniqueness

In order to derive a relative entropy inequality for energy-variational solutions, we make the following assumptions on higher regularity of η and F in the interior of the domain of η .

Hypothesis 3.5 Let the assumptions of Hypothesis 2.1 be fulfilled. Set $M := \operatorname{int} \operatorname{dom} \eta$ and assume that $\eta \big|_{M} \in \mathcal{C}^{2}(M; \mathbb{R})$ such that $D^{2}\eta(z)$ is positive definite for all $z \in M$, and that $F \big|_{M} \in \mathcal{C}^{1}(M; \mathbb{R}^{m \times d})$ such that there exists a $\tilde{q} \in \mathcal{C}^{1}(M; \mathbb{R}^{d})$ fulfilling (2.12).

Under these regularity assumptions, we can introduce the relative total entropy functional $\mathcal{R}: \mathbb{D} \times \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d; M) \to \mathbb{R}$, which is given by

$$\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) := \mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}) - \langle D\mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}), U - \tilde{U} \rangle. \tag{3.4a}$$

Additionally, we define the relative form $W : \mathbb{D} \times C^1(\mathbb{T}^d; M) \to \mathbb{R}$ via

$$\mathcal{W}(U \mid \tilde{U}) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla D\eta(\tilde{U}) : \left(F(U) - F(\tilde{U}) - DF(\tilde{U})(U - \tilde{U}) \right) dx + \mathcal{K}(D\eta(\tilde{U}))\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}).$$
(3.4b)

We note that the assumption $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d; M)$ implies $\tilde{U} \in \mathbb{D}$, so that $\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U})$ is finite. Indeed, since η is continuous in the interior of its domain, the composition $\eta \circ \tilde{U}$ is a continuous function on the compact set \mathbb{T}^d and thus bounded, which yields $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}) < \infty$. Similarly, all compositions of functions in (3.4b) are bounded, and \mathcal{W} is well defined. Moreover, both terms \mathcal{R} and \mathcal{W} are non-negative due to the convexity of η and of the function from (2.9), respectively.

Proposition 3.6 (Relative entropy inequality) Let (U, E) be an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 2.2, and let Hypothesis 3.5 be satisfied. Then the relative entropy inequality

$$\left[\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) + E - \mathcal{E}(U) \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} - \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{K}(D\eta(\tilde{U})) \left[\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) + E - \mathcal{E}(U) \right] d\tau
+ \int_{s}^{t} \left[\mathcal{W}(U \mid \tilde{U}) + \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left(\partial_{t} \tilde{U} + \operatorname{div} F(\tilde{U}) \right) \cdot D^{2} \eta(\tilde{U}) (U - \tilde{U}) dx \right] d\tau \le 0$$
(3.5)

holds for a.e. $s, t \in (0, T)$ and all $\tilde{U} \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; M)$.

An immediate consequence of inequality (3.5) is the following weak-strong uniqueness property.



Corollary 3.7 (Weak-strong uniqueness) Let Hypothesis 3.5 be satisfied. If there exists a strong solution $\tilde{U} \in C^1(s,t;\mathbb{Y}) \cap C([s,t);\mathbb{Y})$ to (1.1a) in some interval $(s,t) \subset [0,T]$, then $(\tilde{U}, \mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}))$ coincides with any energy-variational solution $(U, E) \in C_{w^*}(0,T;\mathbb{Y}^*) \times BV([0,T])$ in the sense of Definition 2.2 with $(U(s), E(s-)) = (\tilde{U}(s), \mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}(s)))$.

Proof Since \tilde{U} is a strong solution on [s,t], it holds $\partial_t \tilde{U} + \operatorname{div} F(\tilde{U}) = 0$ in (s,t). For any energy-variational solution (U,E) such that $U(s) = \tilde{U}(s)$ and $E(s-) = \mathcal{E}(\tilde{U}(s))$, we further observe

$$\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{U}(s) \mid \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(s)) + E(s-) - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}(s)) = 0.$$

From the inequality (3.5), we thus infer that

$$\mathcal{R}(U(r) \mid \tilde{U}(r)) + E(r+) - \mathcal{E}(U(r)) + \int_{s}^{r} \mathcal{W}(U \mid \tilde{U}) d\tau$$

$$\leq \int_{s}^{r} \mathcal{K}(D\eta(\tilde{U})) \left[\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) + E - \mathcal{E}(U) \right] d\tau$$

for all $r \in [s, t]$. The convexity of the function from (2.9) implies $W \ge 0$. From Gronwall's inequality, we infer that $\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) + E - \mathcal{E}(U) \le 0$ in (s, t). Since $E \ge \mathcal{E}(U)$, this implies $\mathcal{R}(U \mid \tilde{U}) \le 0$, so that $U = \tilde{U}$ due to the strict convexity of η .

Remark 8 The above weak-strong uniqueness result is stronger than the usual weak-strong uniqueness results (cf. [8]). Usually, these results are stated in the sense that: If there exists a strong solution emanating from the same initial data as the generalized solution, then both solutions coincide as long as the strong one exists. The above result also holds in case that the energy-variational solution coincides with a strong solution at some later point s in the evolution. However, the solution has to satisfy $E(s-) = \mathcal{E}(U(s))$ at such a point in time.

Note that here we do not claim existence of such regular solutions. There are many different results on the existence of classical solutions on short time intervals for conservation laws. We refer to [2, Ch. V] and the references therein.

It remains to show the relative entropy inequality (3.5).

Proof of Proposition 3.6 For any smooth function $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; M)$, we observe by the fundamental theorem of calculus and the product rule that

$$\left[\langle D\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}), \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}} \rangle - \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} D^{2} \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) (\boldsymbol{U} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \cdot \partial_{t} \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}} - \partial_{t} D \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \cdot \boldsymbol{U} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau = 0.$$
(3.6)

Note that \tilde{U} only takes values in M such that the following calculations are rigorous. Taking the derivative of the assumed relation (2.12) with respect to z, we infer

$$D_{l}F_{ij}(D\eta^{*}(z))D_{lk}^{2}\eta^{*}(z) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{k}}F_{ij}(D\eta^{*}(z)) = D_{ki}^{2}[q_{j} \circ D\eta^{*}](z).$$

Note that since $z = D\eta(D\eta^*(z))$, we infer from the implicit function theorem that η^* is twice continuously differentiable with $D^2\eta^*(z) = \left[D^2\eta(D\eta^*(z))\right]^{-1}$. We may express the derivative of F via

$$D_{l}F_{ij}(D\eta^{*}(z)) = D_{ki}^{2}[q_{j} \circ D\eta^{*}](z)D_{kl}^{2}\eta(D\eta^{*}(z)).$$



103 Page 18 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

Multiplying the above relation by $D^2\eta(D\eta^*(z))$ from the left, we infer by the symmetry of the second derivatives of q and η that

$$\begin{split} D_{im}^2 \eta(D\eta^*(z)) D_l F_{ij}(D\eta^*(z)) &= D_{im}^2 \eta(D\eta^*(z)) D_{ki}^2 [q_j \circ D\eta^*](z) D_{lk}^2 \eta(D\eta^*(z)) \\ &= D_{lk}^2 \eta(D\eta^*(z)) D_m F_{kj}(D\eta^*(z)) \,. \end{split}$$

This symmetry can be used to calculate

$$\begin{split} D_{im}^2 \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_j} \boldsymbol{F}_{ij}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) &= D_{im}^2 \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) D_l \boldsymbol{F}_{ij}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{U}_l}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_j} \\ &= D_{il}^2 \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) D_m \boldsymbol{F}_{ij}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{U}_l}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_i} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_i} D_i \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) D_m \boldsymbol{F}_{ij}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \,, \end{split}$$

which implies

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{div} F(\tilde{U}) \cdot D^2 \eta(\tilde{U})(U - \tilde{U}) &= (DF(\tilde{U}) : \nabla \tilde{U}) \cdot D^2 \eta(\tilde{U})(U - \tilde{U}) \\ &= DF(\tilde{U}) : \nabla D \eta(\tilde{U}) \otimes (U - \tilde{U}) \\ &= \nabla D \eta(\tilde{U}) : \left(DF(\tilde{U})(U - \tilde{U}) \right). \end{split}$$

Additionally, we may set $\Phi := D\eta(\tilde{U})$ in (2.8) in order to conclude from the Fenchel equivalences (2.3) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla D \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) : \boldsymbol{F}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \Phi : \boldsymbol{F}(D \eta^*(\Phi)) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0.$$

Combining the last two equations, we find

$$0 = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \operatorname{div} F(\tilde{U}) \cdot D^2 \eta(\tilde{U}) (U - \tilde{U}) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$- \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla D \eta(\tilde{U}) : \left[F(\tilde{U}) + D F(\tilde{U}) (U - \tilde{U}) \right] \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{3.7}$$

Adding the above identities (3.6) and (3.7) to the inequality (2.10) with $\Phi = D\eta(\tilde{U})$ implies

$$\begin{split} & \left[E - \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) - \langle D\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}), \boldsymbol{U} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}} \rangle \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} \\ & + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \nabla D\eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) : \left(\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}) - \boldsymbol{F}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) - D\boldsymbol{F}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}})(\boldsymbol{U} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \right) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left(\partial_{t} \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}} + \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{F}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \right) \cdot D^{2} \eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}) \left(\boldsymbol{U} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(D\eta(\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}})) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}) - E \right] \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leq 0 \end{split}$$

which is (3.5).

3.3 Existence of energy-variational solutions

In this subsection we prove Theorem 2.3, that is, we show existence of energy-variational solutions to the hyperbolic conservation law (1.1). To do so, we introduce a semi-discretization scheme in time. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we define $\tau := T/N$, and we set $t^n := \tau n$ for $n \in \{0, ..., N\}$ to obtain an equidistant partition of [0, T]. We set $U^0 := U_0 \in \mathbb{D}$, and in the n-th time step,



 $n \ge 1$, we compute U^n from $U^{n-1} \in \mathbb{D}$ by solving the minimization problem

$$U^{n} = \arg\min_{U \in \mathbb{D}; \mathcal{E}(U) \leq \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})} \sup_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}} \left[\left(\mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1}) \right) - \left(U - U^{n-1}, \Phi \right) + \tau \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \left(\mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1}) \right) \right] \right].$$
(3.8)

Remark 9 (Comparison to time discretization for gradient flows) In the theory of gradient flows it is nowadays standard to consider a time-discretization scheme based on a sequential minimization [30, Chap. 6]. This is certainly a different setting than in the problem considered here since the energy is not formally conserved along a gradient flow but dissipated by some dissipation functional. Nevertheless, a similarity is that a saddle-point problem has to be solved in every time step. The current algorithm can thus be seen as a first generalization of this technique from gradient flows to more general systems, also including Hamiltonian dynamics. A goal for the future is to combine both approaches in order to find a suitable discretization scheme for general GENERIC systems [31], which combine dissipative and Hamiltonian effects.

Remark 10 (Solving the min-max problem numerically) It is worth observing that the discrete optimization problem from (3.8) is given in form of a saddle-point problem. This is a standard problem in optimization theory and machine learning and there are different tools to solve such a problem numerically [32].

Theorem 3.8 (Solution of the time-discrete problem) For each $U^{n-1} \in \mathbb{D}$ there exists a unique solution U^n to the minimization problem (3.8), and it holds

$$(1 + \tau \mathcal{K}(\Phi)) \left(\mathcal{E}(U^n) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1}) \right) - \langle U^n - U^{n-1}, \Phi \rangle + \tau \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{F}(U^n) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \le 0 \quad (3.9)$$

for all $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$.

Proof The proof is divided into different steps:

Step 1: Functional framework. We define the set

$$\mathbb{D}^n := \left\{ \boldsymbol{U} \in \mathbb{D} \mid \, \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}) \leq \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}) \right\}$$

and the function

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{F}_n^\tau(U\mid \Phi) &:= \, (1+\tau \mathcal{K}(\Phi)) \left(\mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})\right) \\ &- \left\langle U - U^{n-1}, \, \Phi \right\rangle + \tau \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$

Then we solve the time-discrete minimization problem (3.8) if we find a unique minimizer $U^n \in \mathbb{D}^n$ of the function

$$\mathcal{H} \colon \mathbb{D}^n \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \mathcal{H}(U) = \sup_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}} \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \Phi).$$

Step 2: Min-max theorem. In order to show that

$$\inf_{U \in \mathbb{D}^n} \sup_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}} \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \Phi) = \sup_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}} \inf_{U \in \mathbb{D}^n} \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \Phi). \tag{3.10}$$

we apply a min-max theorem. Since \mathcal{E} is superlinear, the set \mathbb{D}^n is weakly compact in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ by Lemma 2.6 and the function $U \mapsto \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \Phi)$ is convex and weakly lower



semi-continuous for every $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. Moreover, the function $\Phi \mapsto \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \Phi)$ is concave for all $U \in \mathbb{D}^n$ since \mathcal{K} is convex and $\mathcal{E}(U) \leq \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$. Therefore, (3.10) follows from Fan's min-max theorem [33, Theorem 2].

Step 3: Inequality (3.9). We show $\inf_{U\in\mathbb{D}^n}\mathcal{H}(U)\leq 0$. To do so, let $\Phi\in\mathbb{Y}$ be arbitrary and define $\tilde{U}=D\eta^*\circ\Phi$ and $\hat{U}=D\eta^*\circ(\alpha\Phi)$, where $\alpha>0$ is chosen as follows: If $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{U})\leq\mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$, we set $\alpha=1$, so that $\hat{U}=\tilde{U}$. If $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{U})>\mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$, we let $\alpha\in(0,1)$ such that $\mathcal{E}(\hat{U})=\mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$, which is possible by Lemma 2.8. Then the assumed identity (2.8) implies

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(\hat{U}) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d} x = \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(D \eta^*(\alpha \Phi(x))) : \alpha \nabla \Phi(x) \, \mathrm{d} x = 0.$$

Since $\alpha \Phi \in \partial \mathcal{E}(\hat{U})$, from the definition of the subdifferential of \mathcal{E} we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\inf_{\boldsymbol{U} \in \mathbb{D}^n} \mathcal{F}_n^\tau(\boldsymbol{U} \mid \boldsymbol{\Phi}) \leq \mathcal{F}_n^\tau(\hat{\boldsymbol{U}} \mid \boldsymbol{\Phi}) \\ &= (1 + \tau \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\Phi})) \left(\mathcal{E}(\hat{\boldsymbol{U}}) - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}) \right) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \left\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{U}} - \boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}, \alpha \boldsymbol{\Phi} \right\rangle + \tau \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(\hat{\boldsymbol{U}}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\Phi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \tau \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \left(\mathcal{E}(\hat{\boldsymbol{U}}) - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}) \right) \leq 0. \end{split}$$

The last inequality follows since if $\alpha=1$, then $\mathcal{E}(\hat{U}) \leq \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$, and if $\alpha\in(0,1)$, then $\mathcal{E}(\hat{U})=\mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$. Because $\Phi\in\mathbb{Y}$ was arbitrary, identity (3.10) implies $\inf_{U\in\mathbb{D}^n}\mathcal{H}(U)\leq 0$. Step 4: Solvability of the optimization problem. From the identity

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}(U) &= \left(\mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})\right) \\ &+ \sup_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}} \left(\tau \mathcal{K}(\Phi)(\mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})) - \left\langle U - U^{n-1}, \Phi \right\rangle + \tau \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x \right), \end{split}$$

we conclude the strict convexity of the mapping \mathcal{H} from the strict convexity of \mathcal{E} and the convexity the function in the second line, which is the supremum of convex functions. Additionally, \mathcal{H} is not equal to $+\infty$ everywhere due to *Step 3*. Furthermore, we observe the coercivity of \mathcal{H} via

$$\mathcal{H}(U) \ge \mathcal{F}_n^{\tau}(U \mid \mathbf{0}) = \mathcal{E}(U) - \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$$

since \mathcal{E} is superlinear, which also implies that \mathbb{D}^n is weakly compact in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d)$ by Lemma 2.6. In total, \mathcal{H} is a strictly convex, lower semicontinuous and coercive function on the compact set \mathbb{D}^n and thus has a unique minimizer U^n .

Proof of Theorem 2.3 We prove the existence of energy-variational solutions via the convergence of a time-discretization scheme. We divide the proof into three steps.

Step 1: Discretized formulation. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\tau = T/N$ and $t^n = n\tau$ as above. Set $U^0 = U_0$, define U^n iteratively by (3.8), and set $E^n := \mathcal{E}(U^n)$ for $n \in \{0, ..., N\}$. Theorem 3.8 guarantees that $U^n \in \mathbb{D}$ exists and satisfies

$$E^{n} - E^{n-1} - \langle U^{n} - U^{n-1}, \Phi \rangle$$

$$+ \tau \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathbf{F}(U^{n}) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) [\mathcal{E}(U^{n}) - E^{n-1}] \right] \le 0$$
(3.11)

for all $\Phi \in \mathbb{Y}$. For functions $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}([0,T);[0,\infty))$ and $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{Y})$, we define $\phi^n := \phi(t^n)$ and $\Phi^n := \Phi(t^n)$ for $n \in \{0,\ldots,N\}$. Using $\Phi = \Phi^{n-1}$ in (3.11), multiplying



the resulting inequality by ϕ^{n-1} and summing this relation over $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$ implies

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[\phi^{n-1}(E^{n} - E^{n-1}) - \phi^{n-1} \langle \boldsymbol{U}^{n} - \boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}, \Phi^{n-1} \rangle \right] \\ + \tau \sum_{n=1}^{N} \phi^{n-1} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) : \nabla \Phi^{n-1} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\Phi^{n-1}) (\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) - E^{n-1}) \right] \leq 0. \end{split}$$

Since $\phi^N = 0$, using a discrete integration-by-parts formula, we obtain

$$-\tau \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[\frac{\phi^{n} - \phi^{n-1}}{\tau} \left(E^{n} - \langle \boldsymbol{U}^{n}, \Phi^{n-1} \rangle \right) - \phi^{n} \left\langle \boldsymbol{U}^{n}, \frac{\Phi^{n} - \Phi^{n-1}}{\tau} \right\rangle \right]$$

$$- \phi^{0} \left(\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}_{0}) - \langle \Phi^{0}, \boldsymbol{U}_{0} \rangle \right)$$

$$+ \tau \sum_{n=1}^{N} \phi^{n-1} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) : \nabla \Phi^{n-1} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\Phi^{n-1}) (\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) - E^{n-1}) \right] \leq 0.$$

$$(3.12)$$

Step 2: Prolongations. We define the piece-wise constant prolongations

$$\begin{split} \overline{\boldsymbol{U}}^{N}(t) &:= \begin{cases} \boldsymbol{U}^{n} & \text{for } t \in (t^{n-1}, t^{n}], \\ \boldsymbol{U}_{0} & \text{for } t = 0, \end{cases} \\ \overline{\boldsymbol{E}}^{N}(t) &:= \begin{cases} \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n}) & \text{for } t \in (t^{n-1}, t^{n}], \\ \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}_{0}) & \text{for } t = 0, \end{cases} \quad \underline{\boldsymbol{E}}^{N}(t) := \begin{cases} \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{N}) & \text{for } t = T, \\ \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}^{n-1}) & \text{for } t \in [t^{n-1}, t^{n}). \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Analogously, for test functions $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathbb{X})$, where \mathbb{X} is \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{Y} , we define the piecewise constant and piece-wise linear prolongations by

$$\begin{split} \overline{\psi}^N(t) &:= \begin{cases} \psi(t^n) & \text{for } t \in (t^{n-1}, t^n], \\ \psi(0) & \text{for } t = 0, \end{cases} \qquad \underline{\psi}^N(t) := \begin{cases} \psi(T) & \text{for } t = T, \\ \psi(t^{n-1}) & \text{for } t \in [t^{n-1}, t^n), \end{cases} \\ \widehat{\psi}^N(t) &:= \frac{\psi(t^n) - \psi(t^{n-1})}{\tau} (t - t^{n-1}) + \psi(t^{n-1}) & \text{for } t \in [t^{n-1}, t^n]. \end{split}$$

With this notation, the discrete energy-variational inequality (3.12) becomes

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \left(\partial_{t} \widehat{\phi}^{N} \left[\overline{E}^{N} - \langle \overline{U}^{N}, \underline{\Phi}^{N} \rangle \right] - \overline{\phi}^{N} \langle \overline{U}^{N}, \partial_{t} \widehat{\Phi}^{N} \rangle + \underline{\phi}^{N} \mathcal{K}(\underline{\Phi}^{N}) \underline{E}^{N} \right) dt$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \underline{\phi}^{N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathbf{F}(\overline{U}^{N}) : \nabla \underline{\Phi}^{N} d\mathbf{x} + \mathcal{K}(\underline{\Phi}^{N}) \mathcal{E}(\overline{U}^{N}) \right] dt$$

$$- \phi(0) \left[\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{U}_{0}) - \langle \Phi(0), \mathbf{U}_{0} \rangle \right] \leq 0$$
(3.13)

for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{Y})$ and all $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^1_c([0, T))$ with $\phi \ge 0$.

Step 3: Convergence. Since we have $0 \le \mathcal{E}(U^n) \le \mathcal{E}(U^{n-1})$, we obtain that $t \mapsto \overline{E}^N(t)$ and $t \mapsto E^N(t)$ are non-negative and non-increasing functions and as such bounded in BV([0,T]) by the initial value $E^0 = \mathcal{E}(U_0)$. Moreover, by the superlinear growth of η , we infer from $\mathcal{E}(\overline{U}^N(t)) \leq \mathcal{E}(U_0)$ that the sequence $\{\overline{U}^N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $L^\infty(0,T;\mathbb{D})$. Thus, we may extract (not-relabeled) subsequences such that there exist $\overline{E},\underline{E}\in \mathrm{BV}([0,T])$



103 Page 22 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

and $U \in L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathbb{D})$ such that

$$\overline{U}^{n} \stackrel{(*)}{\longrightarrow} U \qquad \text{in } L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{m})),$$

$$(\overline{E}^{N}, \underline{E}^{N}) \stackrel{*}{\longrightarrow} (\overline{E}, \underline{E}) \qquad \text{in BV}([0,T]),$$

$$(\overline{E}^{N}(t), \underline{E}^{N}(t)) \longrightarrow (\overline{E}(t), \underline{E}(t)) \qquad \text{for all } t \in [0, T],$$

where the weak(*) convergence in $L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{m}))$ was defined in (2.2), and where we used Helly's selection theorem (see [24, Thm. 1.126] for example). We next show that \overline{E}^{N} and \underline{E}^{N} converge to the same limit, that is, $\overline{E} = \underline{E}$ a.e. in (0, T). Due to the monotony $E^{n} \leq E^{n-1}$, we find

$$\int_0^T |\overline{E}^N - \underline{E}^N| \, \mathrm{d}t = \sum_{n=1}^N \tau(E^{n-1} - E^n) = \tau(E(0) - E^N) \le \tau E(0) \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as } N \to \infty.$$

Since BV([0,T]) continuously embeds into $L^1(0,T)$, this allows to identify $\underline{E} = \overline{E} =: E$. Due to the pointwise convergence in [0,T] of \overline{E}^N , we infer from the weak lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{E} that $E \geq \mathcal{E}(U)$ a.e. in (0,T). We clearly have

$$\partial_t \widehat{\phi}^N \to \partial_t \phi, \quad \overline{\phi}^N \to \phi, \quad \underline{\phi}^N \to \phi$$
 pointwise in $[0, T]$
 $\partial_t \widehat{\Phi}^N \to \partial_t \Phi, \quad \Phi^N \to \Phi, \quad \nabla \Phi^N \to \nabla \Phi \quad \text{in } \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m) \text{ pointwise in } [0, T]$

as $N \to \infty$. With these observations, we may pass to the limit in the weak form (3.13). We note that \overline{U}^N occurs linearly in the first line of (3.13). All other terms are bounded and converge almost everywhere in (0, T). This implies that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_0^T \left[\partial_t \widehat{\phi}^N \left[\overline{E}^N - \langle \overline{U}^N, \underline{\Phi}^N \rangle \right] - \overline{\phi}^N \langle \overline{U}^N, \partial_t \widehat{\Phi}^N \rangle + \underline{\phi}^N \mathcal{K}(\underline{\Phi}^N) \underline{E}^N \right] dt$$

$$= \int_0^T \left[\partial_t \phi \left[E - \langle U, \Phi, \rangle \right] - \phi \langle U, \partial_t \Phi \rangle + \phi \mathcal{K}(\Phi) E \right] dt.$$

Observing that the second line in (3.13) is bounded from below due to Hypothesis (2.1) and that $\phi \ge 0$ in [0, T], we may apply Fatou's lemma and the weak lower semi-continuity of the function from (2.9) as well as the continuity of \mathcal{K} in order to pass to the limit in the second line of (3.13), which yields

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \inf \left[\int_{0}^{T} \underline{\phi}^{N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} F(\overline{U}^{N}) : \nabla \underline{\Phi}^{N} \, dx + \mathcal{K}(\underline{\Phi}^{N}) \mathcal{E}(\overline{U}^{N}) \right] dt \right] \\
\geq \int_{0}^{T} \lim_{N \to \infty} \inf \left[\underline{\phi}^{N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} F(\overline{U}^{N}) : \nabla \underline{\Phi}^{N} \, dx + \mathcal{K}(\underline{\Phi}^{N}) \mathcal{E}(\overline{U}^{N}) \right] \right] dt \\
\geq \int_{0}^{T} \phi \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, dx + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) \mathcal{E}(U) \, dt.$$

In total, we infer from (3.13) that

$$\begin{split} &-\int_0^T \partial_t \phi \left[E - \langle U, \Phi \rangle \right] \, \mathrm{d}t - \phi(0) \left[\mathcal{E}(U_0) - \langle U_0, \Phi(0) \rangle \right] \\ &+ \int_0^T \phi \left[\langle U, \partial_t \Phi \rangle + \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} F(U) : \nabla \Phi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}(\Phi) [\mathcal{E}(U) - E] \right] \, \mathrm{d}t \leq 0. \end{split}$$



Via Lemma 2.5, we now end up with the energy-variational inequality (2.10) and with

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \left[E(t) - \langle \boldsymbol{U}(t), \Phi(t) \rangle \right] \le \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{U}_0) - \langle \boldsymbol{U}_0, \Phi(0) \rangle,$$

after possible redefining the function on a set of measure zero. By Lemma 2.4, this inequality implies $U(t+) = U_0$ in \mathbb{Y}^* , that is, the initial value is attained in the asserted sense.

4 Two incompressible fluid models

Our first two examples are models for incompressible inviscid fluids, the incompressible magnetohydrodynamical equations and the incompressible Euler system. While the latter can be seen as a special case of the first system, it allows to derive more properties and the comparison with weak dissipative solutions for the Euler equations.

4.1 Incompressible magnetohydrodynamics

As the first example, we consider the equations modeling an incompressible, inviscid and electronically conductive fluid. The corresponding equations of motion are the magnetohydrodynamical equations given by

$$\partial_t \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} - \mu (\mathbf{H} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{H} + \nabla p + \nabla \frac{\mu}{2} |\mathbf{H}|^2 = \mathbf{0}, \quad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T), \quad (4.1a)$$

$$\partial_t \mathbf{H} - \nabla \times (\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{H}) = \mathbf{0}$$
 in $\mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T)$, (4.1b)

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad \operatorname{div} \mathbf{H} = 0 \qquad \quad \operatorname{in} \mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T), \qquad (4.1c)$$

$$\mathbf{v}(0) = \mathbf{v}_0, \quad \mathbf{H}(0) = \mathbf{H}_0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d.$$
 (4.1d)

Here $\mathbf{v}: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ denotes the velocity of the fluid, $\mathbf{H}: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is the magnetic field, $p: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the pressure, and $\mu \in (0,\infty)$ is the quotient of the magnetic permeability and the constant density of the fluid.

Remark 11 We note that the above equation is not formally of the form (1.1a). The pressure is not a function of H and v but should rather be seen as a Lagrange multiplier to fulfill the divergence-free condition in the evolution. The first equation (4.1a) can be interpreted as $\partial_t v + P \operatorname{div}(v \otimes v - \mu H \otimes H) = 0$, where P denotes the Helmholtz projection on divergence-free functions, and condition (4.1c) is incorporated in the functional framework by working in the space of divergence-free functions. Another viewpoint is that one can derive a weak formulation of (4.1) by testing with divergence-free test functions. Then the pressure term can be omitted, and the weak formulation is of the form (1.2).

To introduce the notion of energy-varational solutions to the magnetohydrodynamical equations (4.1), we define the corresponding mathematical entropy as the physical energy

$$\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{H}) = \frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}^{2} + \frac{\mu}{2} \|\mathbf{H}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}^{2}.$$
 (4.2)

Moreover, we we introduce the class of divergence-free vector fields

$$L^q_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{v} \in L^q(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d) \;\middle|\; \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d) \colon \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0 \right\}$$

for $q \in [1, \infty)$. The mathematical precise sense of energy-variational solutions is given in the following definition.



103 Page 24 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

Definition 4.1 A tuple $(v, H, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^{d}))^{2} \times BV([0,T])$ is called an energy-variational solution to the incompressible magnetohydrodynamical equations (4.1) if it satisfies $\mathcal{E}(v(t), H(t)) \leq E(t)$ for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$, and if the energy-variational inequality

$$\left[E - \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{H} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, d\boldsymbol{x}\right] \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} - \mu \boldsymbol{H} \otimes \boldsymbol{H}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right] \\
+ \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{H} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} + (\boldsymbol{H} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{H}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{H}) - E\right] ds \leq 0$$
(4.3)

holds for a.e. $s < t \in (0, T)$ including s = 0 with $(\mathbf{v}(0), \mathbf{H}(0)) = (\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{H}_0)$ and all test functions $(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)^2$ with div $\boldsymbol{\varphi} = \text{div } \boldsymbol{\psi} = 0$. Here,

$$\mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) = 2\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{\mu}}\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\text{skw}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})}$$
(4.4)

with

$$\|\Phi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d:\mathbb{R}^d\times d)} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{T}^d}|\Phi(x)|_2,$$

where $|\cdot|_2$ denotes the spectral norm defined in (2.1).

Theorem 4.2 For every initial datum $(\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{H}_0) \in L^2_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^d) \times L^2_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, there exists an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 4.1 with $E(0) = \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{H}_0)$ and $(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{H}) \in \mathcal{C}_w([0, T]; L^2_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^d) \times L^2_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^d))$, and the initial values are attained in the strong sense.

Proof We have to show that the Hypothesis 2.1 is fulfilled. To realize the system (4.1) in the abstract framework introduced above, we introduce the quadratic entropy functional $\eta:\mathbb{R}^{2d}\to\mathbb{R}$ via $\eta(y_1,y_2)=\frac{1}{2}|y_1|^2+\frac{\mu}{2}|y_2|^2$, which is obviously strictly convex, lower semi-continuous and has superlinear growth. The space of test functions is given by $\mathbb{Y}=\left\{(\pmb{\varphi},\pmb{\psi})\in\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^d)^2\mid \operatorname{div}\pmb{\varphi}=\operatorname{div}\pmb{\psi}=0\right\}$, and we have $\mathbb{D}=L^2_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d)\times L^2_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d)$ (see Remark 2), which is obviously convex. Note that $\eta^*(z_1,z_2)=\frac{1}{2}|z_1|^2+\frac{1}{2\mu}|z_2|^2$, and the corresponding total entropy is given by the physical energy \mathcal{E} from (4.2). The function $\pmb{F}:\mathbb{R}^{2d}\to\mathbb{R}^{2d\times d}$ is given by

$$F(v, H) = \begin{pmatrix} v \otimes v - \mu H \otimes H \\ H \otimes v - v \otimes H \end{pmatrix}.$$

Observing that $D\eta^*(z_1, z_2) = (z_1, \frac{z_2}{\mu})^T$, we find that the condition (2.8) is fulfilled due to

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(D\eta^*(\boldsymbol{\varphi},\boldsymbol{\psi})) : \nabla \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \\ \boldsymbol{\psi} \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left(\boldsymbol{\varphi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varphi} - \frac{1}{\mu} \boldsymbol{\psi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \frac{1}{\mu} \left(\boldsymbol{\psi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{\varphi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \nabla) \frac{|\boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2}{2} \\ &\qquad - \frac{1}{\mu} \left[\left(\boldsymbol{\psi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} - \left(\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \nabla \right) \frac{|\boldsymbol{\psi}|^2}{2} - \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} : \left(\boldsymbol{\psi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi} \right) - \boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{\psi} \right] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 0 \,, \end{split}$$



where we integrated by parts in the last term. The last equality follows by another integration by parts since φ and ψ are solenoidal vector fields. Moreover, inequality (2.7) is fulfilled for $C = 2 + \frac{2}{\sqrt{\mu}}$ since from Young's inequality, it follows

$$|F(v, H)| \le |v|^2 + \mu |H|^2 + 2|v||H| \le 2\eta(v, H) + \frac{2}{\sqrt{\mu}}\eta(v, H).$$

Finally, we have to show that the choice (4.4) of the regularity weight K yields the convexity of the function from (2.9). We infer similarly to the previous estimate that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{H}) : \nabla \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \\ \boldsymbol{\psi} \end{pmatrix} d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ & \leq \left(\| \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} - \mu \boldsymbol{H} \otimes \boldsymbol{H} \|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} \right) \| (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym}} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} \\ & + 2 \| \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{H} \|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} \| (\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\text{skw}} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} \\ & \leq \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{H}) . \end{split}$$

This implies that the mapping

$$(\pmb{v},\pmb{H})\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d}\pmb{F}(\pmb{v},\pmb{H}):
ablaigg(oldsymbol{arphi}{\pmb{\psi}}igg)\,\mathrm{d}\pmb{x} + \mathcal{K}(\pmb{arphi},\pmb{\psi})\mathcal{E}(\pmb{v},\pmb{H})$$

is quadratic and non-negative, and thus convex and weakly lower semi-continuous. In total, Hypothesis 2.1 is satisfied, and from Theorem 2.3 we infer the existence of a solution in the sense of Definition 4.1 with the regularity from Proposition 3.1. Finally, Proposition 3.2 implies the additional regularity.

Remark 12 (Alternative choice of F) We could also define the function F by

$$F(v, H) = \begin{pmatrix} v \otimes v - \mu H \otimes H + I \left(\frac{|v|^2}{2} + \frac{\mu |H|^2}{2} \right) \\ H \otimes v - v \otimes H - (v \cdot H)I \end{pmatrix}.$$

With this definition, we can derive the relation (2.12) for the function \tilde{q} given by

$$\tilde{q}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{H}) = \mathbf{v} \left(\frac{|\mathbf{v}|^2}{2} + \frac{\mu |\mathbf{H}|^2}{2} \right) - \mu \mathbf{H} (\mathbf{H} \cdot \mathbf{v}),$$

and the function F fits better into our abstract framework with Hypothesis 3.5. But since both choices yield the same when tested with solenoidal functions, we rather use the simpler version in the above proof. Note that both choices fulfill the condition (2.8).

Remark 13 (Boundary conditions) The concept can be transferred to the usual impermeability boundary conditions. Indeed, on a bounded Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we may equip the system (4.1) with the boundary conditions $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0 = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{H}$ on $\partial \Omega$, where \mathbf{n} denotes the outer unit normal vector at $\partial \Omega$. The associated space for the test functions \mathbb{Y} has to be restricted to $(\varphi, \psi) \in \mathbb{Y} := \mathcal{C}^1(\Omega \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{2d})$ with $\mathbf{n} \cdot \varphi = 0 = \mathbf{n} \cdot \psi$ on $\partial \Omega$ and div $\varphi = 0 = \operatorname{div} \psi$ in Ω . Similarly to the above calculation, one may verify that condition (2.8) is still fulfilled, where the integral is taken over Ω instead of \mathbb{T}^d .

4.2 Incompressible Euler equations

For the sake of completeness, we apply the abstract result to the incompressible Euler equations, even though the existence of energy-variational solution to this system was already



proven in [20]. Actually, this can be seen as a special case of the magnetohydrodynamical equations (4.1) by setting $H \equiv 0$. However, here we can give a finer choice of the regularity weight K that allows us to show that energy-variational solutions are also dissipative weak solutions.

The incompressible Euler equations are given by

$$\partial_t \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla p = \mathbf{0}, \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T),$$
 (4.5a)

$$\mathbf{v}(0) = \mathbf{v}_0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d \,. \tag{4.5b}$$

Again, $\mathbf{v}: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ denotes the velocity of the fluid and $p: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the pressure. We introduce the energy $\mathcal{E}: L^2_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}):=\frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}^2$.

Definition 4.3 A pair $(v, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^{d})) \times BV([0,T])$ is called an energy-variational solution to the incompressible Euler system (4.5) if $E(t) \geq \mathcal{E}(v)$ for a.e. $t \in (0, T)$ and if the inequality

$$\left[E - \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}\right] \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \mathbf{v} \otimes \mathbf{v} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}) - E\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \le 0$$
(4.6)

holds for a.e. $s < t \in (0, T)$, including s = 0 with $\mathbf{v}(0) = \mathbf{v}_0$, and for all test functions $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$ with div $\boldsymbol{\varphi} = 0$, where

$$\mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = 2\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d:\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})}.$$
(4.7)

Besides existence of energy-variational solutions, we shall show that they can be identified with so-called weak dissipative solutions to the incompressible Euler equations (4.5). The following definition is an adaption of the compressible case, see Definition 5.7 below.

Definition 4.4 (Dissipative weak solution) A pair $(v, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^{d})) \times BV([0,T])$ is called a dissipative weak solution to the Euler equations, if there exists a *Reynolds defect* $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{v^{*}}(0, T; \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{sym,+}))$ such that the equation

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \Big|_{s}^{t} = \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R}(s) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}$$
(4.8)

is fulfilled for all $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$ with div $\varphi = 0$, and for a.a. $s, t \in (0, T)$, including s = 0 with $v(0) = v_0$, and if E is a non-increasing function with $E(0+) = \mathcal{E}(v_0)$ such that

$$\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}(t)) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} I : d\Re(t) \le E(t)$$
(4.9)

for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$.

Theorem 4.5 For every initial datum $\mathbf{v}_0 \in L^2_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d)$, there is an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 4.3 with $E(0) = \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v}_0)$ with $\mathbf{v} \in C_w([0,T]; L^2_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d))$ such that the initial condition is attained in the strong sense. Moreover, a pair $(\mathbf{v}, E) \in L^\infty(0,T; L^2_\sigma(\mathbb{T}^d)) \times BV([0,T])$ is an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 4.3 if and only if it is a dissipative weak solution in the sense of Definition 4.4.

Proof At first, we show that the Hypothesis 2.1 is fulfilled, which is very similar to the proof of Theorem 4.2. To the most extent, we can copy the above proof with $H \equiv 0$ or vanishing second component in all functionals. But since we assert that the regularity weight \mathcal{K} can be



chosen in the finer manner stated in (4.7), it remains to verify the convexity of the function from (2.9) with this choice. Indeed, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{v}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v})
= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\mathrm{sym},+} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}
+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} (\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) : \left[(\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\mathrm{sym},-} + \| (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\mathrm{sym},-} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})} I \right] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x},$$

where we infer the convexity and weak lower semi-continuity of both terms in the second line since they are non-negative and quadratic. Hence, Hypothesis 2.1 is satisfied, and from Theorem 2.3, we infer the existence of an energy-variational solution.

Now let (v, E) be an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 4.3. The choice $\varphi = \mathbf{0}$ implies that E is non-increasing. Since the regularity weight K is homogeneous of degree one, we infer from Proposition 3.4 that

$$-\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \Big|_0^T + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} + (\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}t \le \int_0^T \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) [E - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v})] \, \mathrm{d}t$$

$$(4.10)$$

for all $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$ with div $\psi = 0$. We define

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{V} &:= \{ \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}_0^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T); \mathbb{R}^d) \mid \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\varphi} = 0 \text{ a.e. in } \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T), \ \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \}, \\ \boldsymbol{l} \colon \mathcal{V} &\to \mathbb{R}, \quad \langle \boldsymbol{l}, \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle := - \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}x \Big|_0^T + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} + (\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t, \\ \mathfrak{p} \colon L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})) &\to \mathbb{R}, \quad \mathfrak{p}(\Phi) := \int_0^T 2 \|(\Phi)_-\|_{\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d \times d})} (E - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v})) \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Due to (4.10), Lemma 2.9 implies that there exists $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0, T; \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{svm}))$ with

$$\forall \Phi \in L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})): \ \langle -\mathfrak{R}, \Phi \rangle \leq \mathfrak{p}(\Phi), \qquad \forall \pmb{\psi} \in \mathcal{V}: \ \langle -\mathfrak{R}, \nabla \pmb{\psi} \rangle = \langle \pmb{l}, \pmb{\psi} \rangle.$$

The first property implies $\langle \mathfrak{R}, \Phi \rangle \geq 0$ if Φ is positive semi-definite in $\mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T)$, so that we have $\mathfrak{R} \in L^\infty_{w^*}(0,T;\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\operatorname{sym},+}))$. The second property yields (4.8) for $\psi \in \mathcal{V}$. Using $\psi = e_j$ in (4.10), where e_j is the j-th unit vector in \mathbb{R}^d , we see that $\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} v \, \mathrm{d}x$ is constant in time. Therefore, we can drop the mean-value condition on ψ and infer (4.8) for all $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T];\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $\mathrm{div}\,\psi = 0$. Considering $\Phi(x,t) = -\phi(t)I$ for some $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^1_0([0,T))$ with $\phi \geq 0$, we further have

$$\int_0^T \phi(t) \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} I : d\mathfrak{R}(t) dt = \langle -\mathfrak{R}, \Phi \rangle \leq \mathfrak{p}(\Phi) = 2 \int_0^T \phi(t) (E - \mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v})) dt.$$

Since $\phi \ge 0$ is arbitrary, this directly implies (4.9) for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$. In total, we see that (v, E) is a dissipative weak solution.

In order to prove the converse implication, let $(v, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{T}^{d})) \times BV([0,T])$ be a dissipative weak solution to (4.5). Due to $\mathfrak{R}(t) \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\text{sym},+})$, the duality of the spectral norm and the trace norm for matrices, Hölder's inequality and inequality (4.9) allow



to infer

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R} &\geq \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} (\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\mathrm{sym},-} : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R} \geq -\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\mathrm{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} I : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R} \\ &\geq 2\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\mathrm{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})} \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v}) - E\right] \end{split}$$

a.e. in (0, T). Estimating the last term of (4.8) with $\varphi = -\psi$ in this way, we obtain

$$-\left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}\right] \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(\boldsymbol{v}) - E\right] \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \leq 0.$$

Since *E* is non-increasing, we may add the term $E \Big|_{s}^{t}$ to the left-hand side to infer the formulation (4.6).

Remark 14 (*Trace-free measures*) Due to the fact that the equation (4.8) holds for solenoidal test functions, one may change the measure $\mathfrak R$ in this formulation by adding a multiplicative of the identity. This can be done in such a way that the resulting measure $\mathfrak R$ is trace-free by setting $\mathfrak R = \mathfrak R - \frac{1}{d}\operatorname{tr}(\mathfrak R)I$. Consequently, we could adapt Definition 4.4 by requiring $\mathfrak R \in L^\infty_w(0,T;\mathcal M(\mathbb T^d;\mathbb R^{d\times d}_{\operatorname{sym},0}))$, where $\mathbb R^{d\times d}_{\operatorname{sym},0}$ denotes the set of symmetric trace-free matrices, and by demanding the simpler inequality $\mathcal E(v) \leq E$ instead of inequality (4.9). We could infer this formulation with the same arguments as above, but by choosing $\mathcal I(\psi) = (\nabla \psi)_{\operatorname{sym}} - \frac{1}{d}\operatorname{tr}(\nabla \psi)I$ in Lemma 2.9 and $\mathfrak p(\Phi) = \int_0^T 2\|\Phi\|_{\mathcal C(\mathbb T^d;\mathbb R^{d\times d})}(E-\mathcal E(v))\,\mathrm{d}t$. However, we prefer the choice made in Definition 4.4 since in inequality (4.9) the dissipative nature of the Reynolds defect $\mathfrak R$ becomes visible.

5 Compressible Euler equations

Now, we turn to the compressible Euler system. Here, instead of formulating the equations in terms of the density h and the fluid velocity v, we use the density and the momentum m = hv. This is often done in the literature, see for instance [34]. The main reason for this choice is that the associated energy functional is convex in the variables (h, m) as we will see below. The Euler equations then read

$$2\partial_t h + \operatorname{div} \mathbf{m} = 0 \qquad \qquad \operatorname{in} \mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T), \tag{5.1a}$$

$$\partial_t \mathbf{m} + \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h}\right) + \nabla p(h) = 0$$
 in $\mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T)$, (5.1b)

$$(h, \mathbf{m})(\cdot, 0) = (h_0, \mathbf{m}_0) \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d. \tag{5.1c}$$

Here $h: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to [0,\infty)$ and and $\mathbf{m}: \mathbb{T}^d \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ denote the mass density and the momentum field of an inviscid fluid flow, and the pressure p is related to the density h by a barotropic pressure law p=p(h). Note that we follow [11] and use h for the density variable instead of ρ , which fits to our notation to use Latin letters for the state variables and Greek letters for the test functions.

To see that (5.1) belongs to the class of hyperbolic conservation laws introduced above, we set

$$F(h, \mathbf{m}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{m}^T \\ \left(\frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h} + p(h)I\right)\chi_{(0,\infty)}(h) \end{pmatrix}.$$



Then (5.1) is equivalent to (1.1) with U = (h, m). The mathematical entropy η for the system is defined as

$$\eta(h, \mathbf{m}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{h} + P(h) & \text{if } h > 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } (h, \mathbf{m}) = (0, \mathbf{0}), \\ \infty & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$

and $\mathcal{E}(h, \mathbf{m}) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \eta(h(x), \mathbf{m}(x)) d\mathbf{x}$ is the total physical energy. Here P denotes the potential energy, which is associated to the pressure p via

$$P(h) = h \int_0^h \frac{p(z)}{z^2} dz.$$
 (5.2)

Vice versa, the pressure p can be derived from the potential energy P via

$$p(h) = hP'(h) - P(h). (5.3)$$

For conditions ensuring that all expressions in (5.2) and (5.3) are well defined, we refer to (5.7) and (5.6) below, respectively.

5.1 Energy-variational solutions to the compressible Euler equations

For the sake of convenience, we now transfer Definition 2.2 to the compressible Euler system, and express all quantities in the way considered here.

Definition 5.1 A triple $(h, \mathbf{m}, E) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T); [0, \infty)) \times L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{T}^d \times (0, T); \mathbb{R}^d) \times BV([0,T])$ is called an energy-variational solution to the compressible Euler system (5.1) if $\mathcal{E}(h(t), \mathbf{m}(t)) \leq E(t)$ for a.e. $t \in (0, T)$ and if the energy-variational inequality

$$\left[E - \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\rho + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}\right] \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\partial_t \rho + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla \rho \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau
+ \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + p(h)I\right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\rho, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \left[\mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) - E\right] \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le 0$$
(5.4)

holds for a.e. $s < t \in (0, T)$, including s = 0 with $(h(0), \mathbf{m}(0)) = (h_0, \mathbf{m}_0)$, and for all test functions $(\rho, \varphi) \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]) \times \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^m)$, where \mathcal{K}_{α} is given by

$$\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\rho, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \max \left\{ 2, \alpha d \right\} \| (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym}, -} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})}$$
 (5.5)

for a suitable choice of $\alpha > 0$.

Remark 15 (Choice of regularity weight) There are different choices possible for the regularity weight \mathcal{K}_{α} . A finer choice would be given by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha}(\varphi) &= \max \left\{ 2 \| (\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^d \times d)}, \alpha \| (\text{div } \varphi)_{-} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R})} \right\} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ 2, \alpha d \right\} \| (\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^d \times d)} = \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi). \end{split}$$

Note that the solution concept is finer for a smaller regularity weight, since the energy-variational inequality (2.10) remains valid, if the regularity weight increases (*cf.* [18, Prop. 4.4]). Nevertheless, we use the above choice since it yields the equivalence to dissipative weak solutions; see Theorem 5.8 below.



103 Page 30 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

To show existence of energy-variation solutions to (5.1), we restrict the class of admissible pressure laws and assume that p is of the form $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$. Then we show the following result.

Theorem 5.2 Let $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$ for some a > 0, $\gamma > 1$, and set $q = 2\gamma/(1+\gamma)$ and $\alpha = \gamma - 1$. For every initial data $(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d+1})$ with $\mathcal{E}(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0) < \infty$ there exists an energy-variational solution

$$(h, \boldsymbol{m}, E) \in \mathcal{C}_w([0, T]; L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{T}^d)) \times \mathcal{C}_w([0, T]; L^q(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)) \times BV([0, T])$$

to the compressible Euler equations (5.1) in the sense of Definition 5.1 with $E(0) = \mathcal{E}(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0)$ and such that the initial conditions are attained in the strong sense.

5.2 Existence of energy-variational solutions

To prove existence of an energy-variational solution, we show that all assertions of Theorem 2.3 are satisfied. Actually, most of them can be shown for more general pressure laws than those in the statement of Theorem 5.2. For the moment, we shall merely assume that the potential energy P satisfies

$$P \in \mathcal{C}^1[0,\infty) \cap \mathcal{C}^2(0,\infty), \qquad P''(z) > 0 \text{ for all } z > 0, \tag{5.6a}$$

$$\lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{P(z)}{z} = \infty, \quad P(0) = P'(0) = 0.$$
 (5.6b)

In particular, P is a strictly convex function with superlinear growth, and p is well defined via (5.3).

Remark 16 In (5.6) we introduced assumptions on the potential energy P, while in the literature it is much more common to state assumptions on the pressure p directly. To guarantee (5.6a) and (5.6b), one may assume that p satisfies

$$p \in \mathcal{C}^{0}[0, \infty) \cap \mathcal{C}^{1}(0, \infty), \quad p'(z) > 0 \text{ for all } z > 0,$$
 (5.7a)

$$\lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{p(z)}{z} = \infty, \qquad \int_0^1 \frac{p(z)}{z^2} \, \mathrm{d}z < \infty. \tag{5.7b}$$

One readily verifies that then the right-hand side of (5.2) is well defined, and that (5.6a) and (5.7a) are equivalent since P''(z) = p'(z)/z. Moreover, the second condition in (5.7b) implies $\lim_{z\to 0} p(z)/z = 0$, and it is equivalent to the second condition in (5.6b), which follows with the identity

$$\int_0^1 \frac{p(z)}{z^2} dz = \int_0^1 \frac{d}{dz} \left[\frac{P(z)}{z} \right] dz = P(1) - \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{P(z)}{z} = P(1) - P'(0).$$

Additionally, superlinear growth of p implies superlinear growth of P. Indeed, the first condition in (5.6b) yields the existence of $h_0 > 0$ such that $p(z) \ge z$ for all $z \ge h_0$, whence we have

$$\frac{P(h)}{h} \ge \int_0^{h_0} \frac{p(z)}{z^2} dz + \int_{h_0}^h \frac{1}{z} dz = \int_0^{h_0} \frac{p(z)}{z^2} dz + \log(h) - \log(h_0) \to \infty$$

as $h \to \infty$. However, the converse is not true. For example, the function $P(h) = (1 + h) \log(1+h) - h$ satisfies (5.6a) and (5.6b), but the associated pressure $p(h) = h - \log(1+h)$ does not have superlinear growth. Therefore, the assumption on the potential P in (5.6) are



less restrictive than the assumptions on the pressure p in (5.7), which explains why we work with the former in what follows.

We separate the proof into several lemmas, the first one concerns properties of η .

Lemma 5.3 If P satisfies (5.6), then η is strictly convex and has superlinear growth.

Proof By (5.6a), we have P''>0, and the strict convexity of η directly follows by computing the second derivatives. To show the superlinear growth, let $(h_n, \boldsymbol{m}_n) \subset \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ be a sequence with $|(h_n, \boldsymbol{m}_n)| \to \infty$. If $h_n \to -\infty$ as $n \to \infty$, then we clearly have $\eta(h_n, \boldsymbol{m}_n)/|(h_n, \boldsymbol{m}_n)| \to \infty$. So we may assume $h_n>0$ in the following. If $\lim_{n\to\infty} |\boldsymbol{m}_n|/h_n=\infty$, then

$$\frac{\eta(h_n, m_n)}{|(h_n, m_n)|} \ge \frac{|m_n|^2}{2h_n |(h_n, m_n)|} = \frac{|m_n|}{\sqrt{h_n^2 + |m_n|^2}} \frac{|m_n|}{2h_n} \to \infty$$

as $n \to \infty$; if $\liminf_{n \to \infty} |\boldsymbol{m}_n|/h_n = c \ge 0$, then we have $h_n \to \infty$ and

$$\frac{\eta(h_n, \mathbf{m}_n)}{|(h_n, \mathbf{m}_n)|} \ge \frac{P(h_n)}{|(h_n, \mathbf{m}_n)|} = \frac{h_n}{\sqrt{h_n^2 + |\mathbf{m}_n|^2}} \frac{P(h_n)}{h_n} \to \infty$$

as $n \to \infty$ due to (5.6b). In total, this completes the proof.

Next we calculate the convex conjugate η^* of η . To this end, we use that P' is an invertible mapping.

Lemma 5.4 If P satisfies (5.6), then the mapping Q := P' is strictly increasing and a bijective self-mapping on $[0, \infty)$. The convex conjugate η^* of η is given by

$$\eta^*(\rho, \varphi) = \int_0^{\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+} Q^{-1}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z = p \circ Q^{-1}\left(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+\right),\tag{5.8}$$

and it holds

$$D\eta^*(\rho, \varphi) = Q^{-1}\left(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ \varphi \end{pmatrix}$$
 (5.9)

where $z_+ := \max\{z, 0\}$ for $z \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof By (5.6), the function Q = P' is strictly increasing and continuous on $[0, \infty)$ with Q(0) = 0, and the convexity of P yields

$$Q(z) = P'(z) \ge \frac{P(z)}{z} \to \infty$$

as $z \to \infty$. Therefore, Q is a bijective self-mapping on $[0, \infty)$ with inverse Q^{-1} . The second equality in (5.8) is now a direct consequence of the identity

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z}p(Q^{-1}(z)) = p'(Q^{-1}(z))(Q^{-1})'(z) = p'(Q^{-1}(z))\frac{1}{Q'(Q^{-1}(z))} = Q^{-1}(z),$$

where we used Q'(z) = P''(z) = p'(z)/z. To verify the first equality in (5.8), consider the case $\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2} \le 0$ at first. We employ Young's inequality to estimate

$$h \rho + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} - \eta(h, \boldsymbol{m}) \le -h \frac{|\boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2}{2} + \frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|^2}{2h} + \frac{h|\boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2}{2} - \eta(h, \boldsymbol{m}) \le 0,$$



103 Page 32 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

which shows $\eta^*(\rho, \varphi) \leq 0$. Since we also have $\eta^* \geq 0$, we infer $\eta^*(\rho, \varphi) = 0$, which is (5.8) if $\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2} \leq 0$. This also implies (5.9) in this case. If $\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2} > 0$, then (ρ, φ) belongs to the range of $D\eta$, which is given by

$$D\eta(h, \mathbf{m}) = \left(-\frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{2h^2} + Q(h), \frac{\mathbf{m}}{h}\right)$$

for h > 0, $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Computing the inverse, we arrive at (5.9) in this case. This further yields (5.8) for $\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2} > 0$ since Q(0) = 0. In total, we have thus verified (5.8) and (5.9).

In the next lemma, we verify the compatibility condition (2.8) between F and the entropy functional η .

Lemma 5.5 If P satisfies (5.6), then the condition (2.8) is satisfied.

Proof We first consider the integrand of (2.8). Using (5.9), for all $(\rho, \varphi) \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d+1})$ we have

$$\begin{split} F(D\eta^*(\rho,\varphi)) : \nabla \begin{pmatrix} \rho \\ \varphi \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \varphi^T & Q^{-1}(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+) \\ \varphi \otimes \varphi & Q^{-1}(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+) + p \circ Q^{-1}(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+) I \end{pmatrix} : \nabla \begin{pmatrix} \rho \\ \varphi \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \varphi \cdot \nabla \left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right) Q^{-1}\left(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+\right) + p \circ Q^{-1}\left(\left(\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2}\right)_+\right) \operatorname{div} \varphi \\ &= \operatorname{div} \left[\varphi & \eta^*(\rho,\varphi)\right], \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from (5.8). Integrating this identity yields (2.8).

Remark 17 We can also show (2.8) by verifying the alternative condition (2.12). Indeed, we can use (5.8) and (5.9) to derive

$$F(D\eta^*(\rho, \varphi)) = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi^T \ Q^{-1}((\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2})_+) \\ \varphi \otimes \varphi \ Q^{-1}((\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2})_+) + p \circ Q^{-1}((\rho + \frac{|\varphi|^2}{2})_+) I \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \varphi^T \ D_\rho \eta^*(\rho, \varphi) \\ \varphi \otimes D_\varphi \eta^*(\rho, \varphi) + \eta^*(\rho, \varphi) I \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= D[\varphi \eta^*(\rho, \varphi)] = D[\varphi \ p(D_\rho \eta^*(\rho, \varphi))] = D[\tilde{q} \circ D\eta^*](\rho, \varphi)$$

for $\tilde{q}(h, m) = \frac{m}{h}p(h)$. This shows (2.12), which implies (2.8) by Remark 4. However, we cannot use the classical entropy-flux condition (2.11) in the present situation, since F is not differentiable.

It remains to show that the function \mathcal{K} defined in (5.5) is a suitable choice. To show this, we have to impose more restrictive conditions on p and P.

Lemma 5.6 Assume that additionally to (5.6) there exist constants $c, \alpha > 0$ such that

$$p(h) < c(1 + P(h)), \tag{5.10}$$

for all $h \ge 0$, and such that the functions p and $\alpha P - p$ are convex and non-negative. Then (2.7) holds for some C > 0, and for any $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$ the mapping

$$\operatorname{dom} \mathcal{E} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad (h, \mathbf{m}) \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left(\frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h} + p(h)I \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\varphi})\mathcal{E}(h, \mathbf{m}) \quad (5.11)$$



is convex, lower semi-continuous and non-negative for \mathcal{K}_{α} as in (5.5).

Proof For h < 0, estimate (2.7) is trivial, and for h > 0 we use Young's inequality and (5.10) to conclude

$$|\boldsymbol{F}(h,\boldsymbol{m})| \leq C \left(\frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|}{\sqrt{h}} \sqrt{h} + \frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|^2}{h} + p(h)\right) \leq C \left(h + \frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|^2}{h} + 1 + P(h)\right) \leq C \left(1 + \eta(h,\boldsymbol{m})\right),$$

where we used the superlinear growth of P in the last estimate. In total, this shows (2.7). To deduce that (5.11) is convex and non-negative, firstly note that the mapping

$$(h, \mathbf{m}) \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h} : \nabla \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi) \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{2h} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h} : ((\nabla \varphi)_{\mathrm{sym}} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi)I) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

is convex and non-negative because the matrix

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym}} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) I = (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym},+} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym},-} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) I$$

is symmetric and positive semi-definite. For the term $(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},+}$ this is clear, and for the remaining term this follows from $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi) \geq \|(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d \cdot \mathbb{R}^d \times d)}$. Secondly, the mapping

$$h \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} p(h)I : \nabla \varphi \, d\mathbf{x} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi) \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} P(h) \, d\mathbf{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} p(h)I : (\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},+} + \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} P(h)I : \left(\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi)I + \alpha d(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-} \right) d\mathbf{x}$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left(p(h) - \alpha P(h) \right) I : (\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-} \, d\mathbf{x}$$

is also convex and non-negative. Indeed, this follows from the convexity of p, P and $\alpha P - p$ and from the fact that $(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},+}$, $-(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-}$ and $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi)I + \alpha d(\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-}$ are positive semi-definite in \mathbb{T}^d . Note that for the last term, this follows from $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\varphi) \geq$ $\alpha d \| (\nabla \varphi)_{\text{sym},-} \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d \cdot \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})}$. In total, the asserted convexity and non-negativity of (5.11) follows. Finally, since strong convergence implies point-wise convergence almost everywhere of a subsequence, the non-negativity of the mapping (5.11) and Fatou's lemma imply the lower semi-continuity of (5.11).

Finally, we prove Theorem 5.2 on existence of energy-variational solutions to the compressible Euler system.

Proof of Theorem 5.2 If $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$, then $P(h) = (\gamma - 1)^{-1}ah^{\gamma}$, and one directly sees that all properties from (5.6) (or even (5.7) are satisfied, and Lemma 5.3 and Lemma 5.5 are applicable. Moreover, we have $p(h) = (\gamma - 1)P(h)$, so that the assumptions of Lemma 5.6 are satisfied with $c = \alpha = \gamma - 1$. Moreover, we may identify $\mathbb{D} = \text{dom } \mathcal{E}$, which is convex, cf. Remark 2. From Theorem 2.3 we thus conclude the existence of energy-variational solutions (h, m) in the sense of Definition 5.1. Moreover, Young's inequality implies

$$|\mathbf{m}|^q = \left(\frac{|\mathbf{m}|}{\sqrt{h}}\right)^q h^{\frac{q}{2}} \le \frac{q}{2} \frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{h} + \frac{2-q}{2} h^{\frac{q}{2-q}} = \frac{\gamma}{1+\gamma} \frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{h} + \frac{1}{1+\gamma} h^{\gamma},$$



whence

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h(t)^{\gamma} + |\boldsymbol{m}(t)|^q \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \le C \, \mathcal{E}(h(t), \boldsymbol{m}(t)) \le C \, \mathcal{E}(h_0, \boldsymbol{m}_0)$$

for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$ and some $C = C(\gamma) > 0$. Finally, the assumptions of Proposition 3.2 are clearly satisfied such that (h, m) belongs to the asserted function class.

Remark 18 It is readily seen that the previous proof also works for more general pressure laws than the above choice $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$ since it suffices to satisfy condition (5.6) and the assumptions from Lemma 5.6 to obtain existence. For example, one may consider pressure laws of the form $p(h) = a_1h^{\gamma_1} + a_2h^{\gamma_2}$ with $a_1, a_2 > 0$ and $y_1, y_2 > 1$. One easily checks that then (5.6) is satisfied, and the assumptions of Lemma 5.6 hold with $c = \alpha = \max\{y_1, y_2\} - 1$. Another example would be the pressure law $p(h) = h - \log(1+h)$ with associated potential energy $P(h) = (1+h)\log(1+h) - h$ from Remark 16, where one can choose $c = \alpha = 1$.

5.3 Comparison with dissipative weak solutions

To compare the notion of energy-variational solutions with existing solution concepts for the compressible Euler system (5.1), we recall the notion of dissipative weak solutions for pressure laws $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$ (cf. [34, Def. 2.1]).

Definition 5.7 A tuple $(h, m, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{T}^d)) \times L^{\infty}(0, T; L^q(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)) \times \mathrm{BV}([0,T])$ with $q = 2\gamma/(1+\gamma)$ is called a dissipative weak solution to the compressible Euler system (5.1) if there exists a so-called *Reynolds defect* $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0, T; \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\mathrm{sym},+}))$ such that the equations

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h \rho \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \Big|_s^t = \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h \partial_t \rho + \mathbf{m} \cdot \nabla \rho \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau, \tag{5.12a}$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \Big|_s^t = \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathbf{m} \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \left(\frac{\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}}{h}\right) : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi})_{\text{sym}} + ah^{\gamma} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau$$

$$+ \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R}(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \tag{5.12b}$$

are fulfilled for all $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T])$ and $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$, and for a.a. $s, t \in (0, T)$, including s = 0 with $(h(0), \boldsymbol{m}(0)) = (h_0, \boldsymbol{m}_0)$. The function E is non-increasing and satisfies $E(0+) = \mathcal{E}(h_0, \boldsymbol{m}_0)$ and

$$\mathcal{E}(h(t), \boldsymbol{m}(t)) + c_{\Re} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} d \operatorname{tr}[\Re(t)] \le E(t)$$
 (5.12c)

for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$ and a constant $c_{\Re} \geq 0$.

Now we show that energy-variational solutions to (5.1) coincide with dissipative weak solutions in the above sense.

Theorem 5.8 Let $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$ with a > 0 and $\gamma > 1$, and let $(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0) \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^d) \times L^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$ satisfy $\mathcal{E}(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0) < \infty$. Consider a tuple $(h, \mathbf{m}, E) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{T}^d)) \times L^{\infty}(0, T; L^q(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)) \times BV([0,T])$ with $q = 2\gamma/(1+\gamma)$. Then (h, \mathbf{m}, E) is an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 5.1 with $\alpha = \gamma - 1$ if and only if it is a dissipative weak solution in the sense of Definition 5.7 with $c_{\mathfrak{R}} = \min\left\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{d(\gamma-1)}\right\}$.



Proof Let (h, m, E) be an energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 5.1. Since the regularity weight $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}$ given in (5.5) is homogeneous of degree one, we may apply Proposition 3.4 in order to infer $E \Big|_s^t \le 0$ and

$$-\left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\rho + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}\right] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\partial_{t}\rho + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla\rho \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$+ \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + Ih^{\gamma}\right) : \nabla\boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K}\left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}\right) \left[\mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) - E\right] \, \mathrm{d}s \leq 0$$
(5.13)

for every $(\rho, \varphi) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^m))$ and a.e. $s < t \in [0, T]$, where $E(0+) = \mathcal{E}(h_0, \mathbf{m}_0)$. For the choice $\varphi \equiv 0$ we infer (5.12a), but first merely with an inequality sign. However, since ρ varies in a linear space, the equality (5.12a) follows immediately. Choosing $\rho = 0$ in (5.13) instead implies

$$-\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + Ih^{\gamma}\right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau$$

$$\leq \int_s^t \mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \left[E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m})\right] \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, . \tag{5.14}$$

The left-hand side of (5.14) defines a linear functional l by

$$\langle \boldsymbol{l}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle = -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \Big|_0^T + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + I h^{\gamma} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \quad (5.15)$$

for $\varphi \in \mathcal{V}$, where

$$\mathcal{V} := \{ \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d) \mid \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \}.$$

We define the sublinear mapping p by

$$\begin{split} &\mathfrak{p}: L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})) \to \mathbb{R},\\ &\mathfrak{p}(\Phi):=\max\left\{2,d(\gamma-1)\right\}\int_0^T \|(\Phi)_-\|_{\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})}(E-\mathcal{E}(h,\textbf{\textit{m}}))\,\mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

From (5.14), we infer the estimate $\langle l, \varphi \rangle \leq \mathfrak{p}(\mathcal{I}(\varphi))$ for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{V}$. Lemma 2.9 shows the existence of an element $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0,T;\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}}))$ satisfying

$$\forall \Phi \in L^1(0,T;\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym}})): \ \langle -\mathfrak{R},\Phi \rangle \leq \mathfrak{p}(\Phi), \qquad \forall \pmb{\varphi} \in \mathcal{V}: \ \langle -\mathfrak{R},\nabla \pmb{\varphi} \rangle = \langle \pmb{l},\nabla \pmb{\varphi} \rangle.$$

As for the incompressible Euler equations (see the proof of Theorem 4.5), we show that $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0,T;\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}_{\mathrm{sym},+}))$ and that (5.12b) holds for all $\varphi\in\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d\times[0,T];\mathbb{R}^d)$. Considering $\Phi(x,t)=-\psi(t)I$ for some $\psi\in\mathcal{C}^1_0([0,T))$ with $\psi\geq 0$, we further have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \psi(t) \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} d \operatorname{tr}[\mathfrak{R}](t) dt = \langle -\mathfrak{R}, \Phi \rangle$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{p}(\Phi) = \max \left\{ 2, d(\gamma - 1) \right\} \int_{0}^{T} \psi(t) (E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m})) dt.$$

Since $\psi \ge 0$ is arbitrary, this directly implies (5.12c) for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$, where



103 Page 36 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

In order to infer the converse implication, let (h, m, E) be a dissipative weak solution in the sense of Definition 5.7. Adding $E|_s^t \le 0$ for s < t and the identities (5.12a) and (5.12b) with $\rho = -\psi$ and $\varphi = -\psi$, we infer

$$\left[E - \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\phi + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}\right] \Big|_s^t + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h\partial_t \phi + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau
+ \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + h^{\gamma} I\right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau + \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} : \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{R}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le 0$$
(5.16)

for a.e. $s < t \in (0, T)$ and all test functions $(\phi, \psi) \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]) \times \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^m)$. From $\mathfrak{R} \in L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0, T; \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{T}^d; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{\mathrm{sym}, +}))$, the duality between spectral norm and trace norm, Hölder's inequality, and inequality (5.12c), we infer

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} : d\mathfrak{R} \ge \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} (\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\text{sym},-} : d\mathfrak{R} \ge -\|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\text{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} I : d\mathfrak{R}$$

$$\ge \|(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})_{\text{sym},-}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d;\mathbb{R}^{d\times d})} c_{\mathfrak{R}}^{-1} [\mathcal{E}(h,\boldsymbol{m}) - E] = \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) [\mathcal{E}(h,\boldsymbol{m}) - E]$$

a.e. in (0, T), where $\alpha = \gamma - 1$. Using these estimates in (5.16) yields (5.4).

5.4 Relative entropy inequality and weak-strong uniqueness

It is readily shown that the Hypothesis 3.5 is fulfilled for the compressible Euler equations (5.1), and that the weak-strong uniqueness principle of Corollary 3.7 holds. In particular, relation (2.12) was already observed in Remark 17. Nevertheless, the calculation of the relative entropy inequality (3.5) for this non-quadratic energy remains a nonstandard task, and we exemplify it here for the reader's convenience. All calculations are done along the lines of Proposition 3.6. Note that during the calculations only (5.3) is used, but in order to derive weak-strong uniqueness, we explicitly need (5.6) and the assumptions of Lemma 5.6.

The relative total entropy \mathcal{R} is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{R}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|^2}{2h} - \frac{|\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}|^2}{2h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot (\boldsymbol{m} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) + \frac{|\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}|^2}{2\tilde{h}^2} (h - \tilde{h}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} P(h) - P(\tilde{h}) - P'(\tilde{h}) (h - \tilde{h}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{h}{2} \left| \frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right|^2 + P(h) - P(\tilde{h}) - P'(\tilde{h}) (h - \tilde{h}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \,, \end{split}$$

the system operator A by

$$\mathcal{A}(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_t \tilde{h} + \operatorname{div} \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}} \\ \partial_t \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}} + \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}} \otimes \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} + p(\tilde{h})I \right) \end{pmatrix},$$

and the relative Hamiltonian is defined via

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{W}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[h \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \otimes \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \left(p(h) - p(\tilde{h}) - p'(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) \right) I \right] : \left(\nabla \left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \right)_{\text{sym}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} \right) \mathcal{R}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}), \end{split}$$



where the regularity measure K is given as above.

Proposition 5.9 Let (h, m) be energy-variational solution in the sense of Definition 5.1 with initial value (h_0, m_0) . Then (h, m) fulfills the relative entropy inequality

$$\left[\mathcal{R}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) + E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} - \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \left[\mathcal{R}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) + E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) \right] d\tau
+ \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{W}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) + \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}), \begin{pmatrix} P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \frac{h\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}^{2}} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \\ \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \end{pmatrix} \right) d\tau \leq 0$$
(5.17)

for all $\tilde{h} \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; (0, \infty))$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}} \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$. Moreover, if $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$, and $(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}})$ is a (classical) solution to (5.1) with $(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}})(0) = (\tilde{h}_0, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_0)$, then $(h, \boldsymbol{m}) = (\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}})$.

Proof First we calculate the second derivative of the entropy function η and mulitply it with the difference $(h - \tilde{h}, m - \tilde{m})$, which implies

$$\begin{split} D^2 \eta(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\pmb{m}}) \begin{pmatrix} h - \tilde{h} \\ \pmb{m} - \tilde{\pmb{m}} \end{pmatrix} &= \begin{pmatrix} P''(\tilde{h}) + \frac{|\tilde{\pmb{m}}|^2}{\tilde{h}^3} - \frac{\tilde{\pmb{m}}^T}{\tilde{h}^2} \\ -\frac{\tilde{\pmb{m}}}{\tilde{h}^2} & \frac{1}{\tilde{h}} I \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h - \tilde{h} \\ \pmb{m} - \tilde{\pmb{m}} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \frac{h\tilde{\pmb{m}}}{\tilde{h}^2} \left(\frac{\pmb{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\pmb{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right), \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{\pmb{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\pmb{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \end{pmatrix}^T \,. \end{split}$$

This gives the term the system operator $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{h}, \tilde{m})$ is tested with in (5.17). For this, we observe by some calculations and the identity $\frac{p'(\tilde{h})}{\tilde{h}} = P''(\tilde{h})$ that

$$\left\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{h}, \tilde{m}), \begin{pmatrix} P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \frac{h\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}^{2}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \\ \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle \\
= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \partial_{t} \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \partial_{t} \tilde{h} \frac{h\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}^{2}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) dx \\
+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \operatorname{div} \tilde{m} \left(P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \frac{h\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}^{2}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \right) dx \\
+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} (\partial_{t} \tilde{h} \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} + \tilde{h} \partial_{t} \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}}) \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) dx \\
+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left(\operatorname{div} \tilde{m} \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} + \tilde{m} \nabla \left(\frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) + \nabla \tilde{h} p'(\tilde{h}) \right) \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) dx \\
= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left[\partial_{t} \tilde{h} + \operatorname{div} \tilde{m} \right] P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) dx \\
+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left[\partial_{t} \left(\frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) + \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) + \nabla \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) \right] h \left(\frac{m}{h} - \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}} \right) dx. \\
\end{cases}$$
(5.18)

Adding and substracting the energy $\mathcal{E}(h, \mathbf{m})$ in the first term of the energy-variational formulation (5.4) and choosing $\rho = P'(\tilde{h}) - \frac{|\tilde{m}|^2}{2\tilde{h}^2}$ and $\varphi = \frac{\tilde{m}}{\tilde{h}}$ as test functions, we further observe



103 Page 38 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

that

$$\begin{split} & \left[E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) + \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} P(h) - P'(\tilde{h})h + \frac{|\boldsymbol{m}|^2}{2h} - \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} + \frac{|\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}|^2}{2\tilde{h}^2} h \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \right] \Big|_s^t \\ & + \int_s^t \! \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} h \, \partial_t \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) - h \, \partial_t \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} + \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) - \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \\ & + \int_s^t \! \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \partial_t \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} + \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + p(h)I \right) : \nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) [\mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) - E] \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \leq 0. \end{split}$$

We now invoke the identity

$$h\partial_t \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) = \partial_t \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) \tilde{h} + \partial_t \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) (h - \tilde{h}) = -\partial_t \left[P(\tilde{h}) - P'(\tilde{h}) \tilde{h} \right] + \partial_t \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) (h - \tilde{h})$$

to introduce the relative energy in the first line. Subsequently, we use equation (5.18) to deduce

$$\begin{split} & \left[E - \mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) + \mathcal{R}(h, \boldsymbol{m} \mid \tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}) \right] \Big|_{s}^{t} + \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \left[\mathcal{E}(h, \boldsymbol{m}) - E \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ & + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}}{h} + p(h)I\right) : \nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} - \boldsymbol{m} \cdot \nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \boldsymbol{m} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left[\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) + \nabla \tilde{h} P''(\tilde{h}) \right] \cdot h \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & - \int_{s}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left[\tilde{h} \, \mathrm{div} \, \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} + \nabla \tilde{h} \cdot \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right] P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & + \int_{s}^{t} \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}), \begin{pmatrix} P''(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) - \frac{h\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}^{2}} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \\ \frac{h}{\tilde{h}} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}}\right) \end{pmatrix} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leq 0. \end{split}$$

With the identity $\tilde{h}P''(\tilde{h})=p'(\tilde{h})$ and integration by parts, the second and the third line can be transformed to

$$\begin{split} \int_{s}^{t} & \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \operatorname{div} \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \left(p(h) - p(\tilde{h}) - p'(\tilde{h})(h - \tilde{h}) \right) \\ & + h \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) \otimes \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{m}}{h} - \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right) : \left(\nabla \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}}{\tilde{h}} \right)_{\text{sym}} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\tau}, \end{split}$$

which implies the relative entropy inequality (5.17). The weak-strong uniqueness principle now follows as in the proof of Corollary 3.7, where we required that the relative entropy \mathcal{R} and the relative Hamiltonian \mathcal{W} are non-negative. For this purpose, we assume $p(h) = ah^{\gamma}$ again, which satisfies (5.6) and the assumptions of Lemma 5.6.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Data Availability Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analyzed during the current study.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare that there are no financial or non-financial interests that are directly or indirectly related to this work.



Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Lighthill, M.J., Whitham, G.B.: On kinematic waves. II. A theory of traffic flow on long crowded roads. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A 229, 317–345 (1955). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1955.0089
- 2. Dafermos, C.M.: Hyperbolic Conservation Laws in Continuum Physics. Springer, Berlin (2016)
- Sigalotti, L.D.G., Sira, E., Klapp, J., Trujillo, L.: Environmental fluid mechanics: applications to weather forecast and climate change. In: Sigalotti, L.D.G., Klapp, J., Sira, E. (eds). Computational and Experimental Fluid Mechanics with Applications to Physics, Engineering and the Environment. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2014. p. 3–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-00191-3_1
- Evans, L.C.: Partial differential equations. vol. 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. 2nd ed. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; 2010. https://doi.org/10.1090/gsm/019
- 5. Hopf, E.: The partial differential equation $u_t + uu_x = \mu u_{xx}$. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 3, 201–230 (1950). https://doi.org/10.1002/cpa.3160030302
- Lax, P.D.: Hyperbolic systems of conservation laws II. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 10, 537–566 (1957). https://doi.org/10.1002/cpa.3160100406
- DiPerna, R.J., Majda, A.J.: Oscillations and concentrations in weak solutions of the incompressible fluid equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 108(4), 667–689 (1987)
- Brenier, Y., De Lellis, C., Székelyhidi, L., Jr.: Weak-strong uniqueness for measure-valued solutions. Commun. Math. Phys. 305(2), 351–361 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-011-1267-0
- Gwiazda, P., Kreml, O., Świerczewska-Gwiazda, A.: Dissipative measure-valued solutions for general conservation laws. Ann Inst Henri Poincaré, Anal Non Linéaire. 37(3), 683–707 (2020). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.anihpc.2019.11.001
- Breit, D., Feireisl, E., Hofmanová, M.: Solution Semiflow to the Isentropic Euler System. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 235(1), 167–194 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00205-019-01420-6
- Gwiazda, P., Świerczewska Gwiazda, A., Wiedemann, E.: Weak-strong uniqueness for measure-valued solutions of some compressible fluid models. Nonlinearity 28(11), 3873–3890 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 1088/0951-7715/28/11/3873
- 12. Schmidt, P.G.: On a magnetohydrodynamic problem of Euler type. J. Differ. Equ. 74(2), 318–335 (1988)
- Secchi, P.: On the equations of ideal incompressible magneto-hydrodynamic. Rend Sem Mat Univ Padova. 90(4), 103–119 (1993)
- Díaz, J.I., Lerena, M.B.: On the inviscid and non-resistive limit for the equations of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics. Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 12(10), 1401–1419 (2002)
- Agosti, A., Lasarzik, R., Rocca, E.: Energy-variational solutions for viscoelastic fluids. WIAS Preprint, No 3048, Berlin. 2023; https://doi.org/10.20347/wias.preprint.3048
- 16. Lions, P.L.: Mathematical Topics in Fluid Mechanics, vol. 1. The Clarendon Press, New York (1996)
- Lasarzik, R.: Maximally dissipative solutions for incompressible fluid dynamics. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 73(1), 21 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00033-021-01628-1
- Eiter, T., Hopf, K., Lasarzik, R.: Weak-strong uniqueness and energy-variational solutions for a class of viscoelastoplastic fluid models. Adv. Nonlinear Anal. 12(1), 20220274 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1515/ anona-2022-0274
- Basarić, D.: Semiflow selection to models of general compressible viscous fluids. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 23(1), 22 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00021-020-00527-1
- Lasarzik, R.: On the existence of energy-variational solutions in multidimensional incompressible fluid dynamics. Accepted in Math Meth Appl Sci. 2021;WIAS-Preprint, No. 2834. https://doi.org/10.20347/ wias.preprint.2834
- Dafermos, C.M.: The entropy rate admissibility criterion for solutions of hyperbolic conservation laws.
 J. Differ. Equ. 14(2), 202–212 (1973). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0396(73)90043-0



103 Page 40 of 40 T. Eiter, R. Lasarzik

 Heida, M., Patterson, R.I.A., Renger, D.R.M.: Topologies and measures on the space of functions of bounded variation taking values in a Banach or metric space. J. Evol. Equ. 19(1), 111–152 (2019). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00028-018-0471-1

- Ambrosio, L., Fusco, N., Pallara, D.: Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems.
 Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York (2000)
- Barbu, V., Precupanu, T.: Convexity and optimization in Banach spaces, 4th edn. Springer, Springer Monogr. Math. Dordrecht (2012)
- Brezis, H.: Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations. Springer, New York (2011)
- Rao, M.M., Ren, Z.D.: Theory of Orlicz spaces. vol. 146 of Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York; 1991
- Dunford, N., Pettis, B.J.: Linear operations on summable functions. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 47, 323–392 (1940). https://doi.org/10.2307/1989960
- 28. Roubíček, T.: Nonlinear partial differential equations with applications. Birkhäuser, Basel (2005)
- Feireisl, E., Novotný, A.: Singular Limits in Thermodynamics of Viscous Fluids. Advances in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Birkhäuser, Basel (2009)
- Santambrogio, F. Optimal transport for applied mathematicians. Calculus of variations, PDEs, and modeling. vol. 87 of Prog. Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. Cham: Birkhäuser/Springer; 2015
- Grmela, M., Öttinger, H.C. Dynamics and thermodynamics of complex fluids. I. Development of a general formalism. Phys Rev E. 1997;56:6620–6632. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.56.6620
- 32. Bubeck, S.: Convex optimization: algorithms and complexity. Found. Trends Mach. Learn. **8**(3–4), 231–357 (2015)
- 33. Fan, K.: Minimax theorems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 39, 42–47 (1953)
- 34. Feireisl, E.: A note on the long-time behavior of dissipative solutions to the Euler system. J. Evol. Equ. 21(3), 2807–2814 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00028-021-00696-0

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

